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FOREWORD

Books and Printing in the San Francisco Bay Area

The art and business of printing in the San Francisco Bay
Area are significant in the history of printing in the United States
and have been an integral part of the cultural development of
California. This series of interviews with people who have been
participants in and observers of the recent history of San Francisco
Bay Area printing stems from a 1958 interview by Francis P. Farquhar
with Edward DeWitt Taylor. It has been carried forward in the
interest of recording details of the movement and analyzing factors
in its development.

The Regional Oral History Office was established to tape
record autobiographical interviews with persons prominent in recent
California history. The Office is under the direction of Willa K.
Baum, and under the administration of the Director of The Bancroft
Library. Ruth Teiser is project director for the books and

printing series.
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iii

INTERVIEW HISTORY

Carroll T. Harris occupied a pivotal position in the world
of fine printing in San Francisco, for it was he who brought to
Northern California many of the type faces used by the printers of
fine press books as well as advertising and general commercial work
of distinction. He became part of that world when John Henry Nash
was its star and at a time when the fame of the Grabhorns, the
Taylor brothers, the Kennedys, and other contributors to the tradi-
tion was rising. And he remained an integral part of it for more
than a half century.

At first somewhat reticent about being interviewed, Colonel
Harris finally in the spring of 1967 accepted the invitation of the
Regional Oral History Office. He had been acquainted for many years
with the interviewer in her capacity as a writer for printing indus-
try magazines and for the book section of the San Francisco Chronicle.
The interviews were held in Colonel Harris' office at Mackenzie and
Harris, 659 Folsom Street, San Francisco, where he was surrounded by
books, pictures and other memorabilia occasionally referred to in
the interview.

There were nine interview sessions, held in the late mornings
on April 25, May 1, May 4, May 8, May 11, May 16, May 25, June 22,
and June 29, 1967. At the conclusion Colonel Harris indicated that
he intended to seal the interview for some years.

In July 1969, the transcript, with a few repetitions deleted
but little other alteration, was sent to Colonel Harris. He returned
it the following spring with a few deletions and corrections, and
some additions.

Early in 1974 a request was made to Colonel Harris to recon-
sider the sealing of the interview. However, following the move of
his firm to a new location at 460 Bryant Street and his residence
from Atherton to San Francisco that spring, Colonel Harris suffered
a rather lengthy illness. The following year, having considerably
recovered, he agreed to reconsider his decision, and Mrs. Helen Lee,
a key employee and shareholder in Mackenzie & Harris, read the
corrected transcript aloud to him. He then agreed that, with the
deletion of one minor fact, the interview could be released.
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iv

Final editorial work was underway when, on August 18, 1975,
Colonel Harris died. Shortly before, on July 31, the firm of
Mackenzie & Harris had ceased to exist. On August 20, under Othmar
Peters, its successor, Mackenzie-Harris Corporation, resumed the
functions the firm had developed over the sixty years since George
Mackenzie established it.

Ruth Teiser
Interviewer-Editor

10 April 1976

Regional Oral History Office

486 The Bancroft Library

University of California at Berkeley






CARROLL T. HARRIS

1891-1975

Carrorr T. Harris, 1891-1975. Homage to a man who for over half a
century contributed notably to the art of printing in San Francisco.
Born in Harper’s Ferry, West Virginia in 1891, Carroll T. Harris was
the son of a Methodist Episcopal clergyman who had in his younger
days been a machinist in a job press manufactory. Whether or not his
father’s early occupation had any effect upon young Carroll, his large
library definitely did, for the son became interested in books as a
youth. A good student, he studied mathematics and engineering at the
Baltimore Polytechnic Institute, then taught there for a year after his
graduation in 1910. He had intended to continue his studies at a uni-
versity, but a chance meeting with J. Maury Dove started him in 1911
upon his lifelong career.

Dove was president of the Lanston Monotype Company. Harris
met him in Baltimore at the home of mutual friends, and when Dove
asked 1f he would be interested in a job with his firm, the young man
did not know what it was. He went to Philadelphia to visit its head-
quarters, apparently liked what he saw, and on August 1, 1911,
started to work. He learned to operate the keyboard and the caster,
then to tear down the machines and build them up again. Having
mastered the basics, he was put through a variety of jobs including
reading proof on the classic work, The Monotype System, just then
being published.

At the end of two years he was transferred to the company’s Boston
office, where he worked first as a clerk, then as a salesman, and be-
came acquainted with a wide variety of printing plants, from news-
papers to presses specializing in books of taste and quality. Here his
interest in fine printing began, and here he began a lifetime study of
type faces.

Here too he met, by chance, a man he was later to know well in San
Francisco. Henry Taylor was attending the Harvard School of Busi-
ness, and young Harris was delegated by his company to give him
information for a thesis he was writing on the comparative cost of hand
composition and Monotype composition. In spite of Taylor’s widely




disseminated conclusion that hand composition was less expensive,
Harris did not lose his job.

He did leave 1t, however. He had been a member of a military cadet
company in Baltimore, and the week after the United States entered
the first World War, Carroll Harris enlisted as a private in the Army
Engineers. A sergeant by the time lie was sent overseas, he was com-
missioned a second lieutenant in the field in France.

Returning to the Monotype Company after the war, he spent four
months in i1ts New York office before J. Maury Dove sent him to San
Francisco to be second in command at the Monotype Company of
California. He arrived in the city in September 1919, and in the next
two years he made friends for both his firm and himself among the
leading printers. He came to know John Henry Nash and his work, on
Haywood Hunt’s recommendation introduced himself to the newly
arrived Grabhorn brothers, and became a friend of both Henry and
Edward DeWitt Taylor before being called back to his company’s
Boston office.

Although in the next few years Harris cemented friendships with
such famed eastern men as Frederic W. Goudy, William Edwin Rudge,
Frederic Warde, Sol Hess and Bruce Rogers, and advanced to the
position of assistant sales manager of the Monotype Company, “the
life and spirit” of San Francisco retained a persistent hold upon him,
he later recalled. Finally in 1923 he began corresponding with George
W. Mackenzie, whom he had met when Mackenzie was in charge of the
Monotype department of the Lynn, Massachusetts, Telegram, and
known later in San Francisco where Mackenzie had established the
first Monotype trade composition plant in the city. At the end of 1923
Harris gave up his position with the Monotype Company and returned
to San Francisco. On January 1, 1924, he formally became a share-
holder in Mackenzie’s firm, then called the Monotype Composition
Company. Two years later it became Mackenzie & Harris.

George Mackenzie had come to San Francisco initially to operate
the Lanston Monotype exhibit in the Machinery Palace at the Panama
Pacific International Exposition of 1915. After the fair closed he
bought the keyboard and accessory equipment he had been demon-
strating and started a successful small business concentrating princi-
pally upon railroad tariffs and other tabular work. Harris, convinced
that the Monotype system was capable of work of high quality—




advertising and book work in particular—shifted the firm’s emphasis
over the next few years. He entered the advertising field by capturing
the account of one of the city’s firms of highest prestige, Gump’s. And
he soon was working with Nash, the Grabhorns, the Taylor brothers,
Lawton and Alfred B. Kennedy, James and Cecil Johnson, and other
printers he admired, setting type for them on his firm’s machines and
by hand, and also selling them types cast in its foundry.

Sometimes responding to, more often anticipating their needs and
interests, he order matrices for new type faces from the eastern
United States and Europe as well. He was the first to bring to San
Francisco Italian Old Style, designed by his friend Frederic Goudy
who often visited him. And he was the first to bring to the United
States two types the matrices for which came from England: Centaur
(with its italic Arrighi) designed by two other friends, Bruce Rogers
and Frederic Warde, and the re-cut version of the seventeenth century
Dutch Van Dijck. These and others were and remain important con-
tributions to the fine printing community of the San Francisco area,
and other printers far beyond often called upon Mackenzie & Harris
for its types and composition. Notably among them has been Leonard
Baskin of the Gehenna Press in Massachusetts, but they have also in-
cluded publishers of work-a-day technical and encyclopedic books
who sent orders across the continent because of the large range of
types and facilities and the high quality of the work.

Carroll Harris’ career was interrupted a second time by military
service when, as a reserve officer, he was called to active duty in World
War II. He served for five years, most of the time at the San Francisco
Port of Embarkation, but he devoted all his energies to his Army
duties, relegating the operation of the company to George Mackenzie
and others. Following Mackenzie’s death in 1944 he turned his atten-
tion to the business only long enough to attend to its reordering and
to arrange to purchase Mackenzie’s shares in it. At the war’s end he
emerged as Colonel Harris, a title he retained after his return to civilian
Iife in 1946.

If the company’s service to the graphic arts community was a source
of pride to Colonel Harris, so too were its employees, a number of
whom owned shares and carried considerable responsibility. Those
whom he credited with important roles in its development were the
late Starr Dunham and Helen Robinson, who with Mackenzie had



carried on during the war, and three who continued to share responsi-
bility, Lester Lloyd, Helen Lee and Frank Stoll. All shared Harris’
ideals and also his desire to work with the young printers of the com-
munity to continue its tradition of fine printing.

A Francophile, Carroll Harris was married in 1921 to a young
Frenchwoman then living in San Francisco, Marie Alexandrine Lange,
and they went often to France through the years. It was an ironic
tragedy that their only son was killed there in active service in World
War II. In the spring of 1947 they journeyed to Europe to visit his
grave, and Colonel Harris, to turn his thoughts toward the future,
went to see a number of France’s leading printers. He returned to the
United States with the idea for what became, two years later, a land-
mark exhibit of recent French printing, bookbinding, and book illus-
tration. Called The French Art of the Book, it was assembled under his
leadership and brought to San Francisco where it attracted more
visitors to the California Palace of the Legion of Honor than any
previous exhibit. The French government honored him by naming him
to the Legion of Honor.

In the years following the second World War, Colonel Harris took
an active role in such organizations as the Grolier Club, the American
Institute of Graphic Arts (which named him a Fellow), and the Rox-
burghe Club which he served two years as Master of the Press. To the
Book Club of California, which he joined in the early 1940’s, he con-
tributed his efforts as an officer, a board member and a committee
member. In addition, the high standards he had created for his firm
resulted in the fine typography of many Book Club publications.
These, together with hundreds of others set in type by Mackenzie &

Harris, stand as a fitting memorial.
RutH TEISER




Colonel Carroll Harris with Mrs. Helen Lee in
his office. 1975

Photograph by Robert Miller.
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Harris:

Teiser:
Harris:
Teiser:

Harris:

I OCOL. CARROLL T. HARRIS
(Interview l=--April 25, 1967)

Early Years

My father was a Methodist minister in the Baltimore
Conference of the Methodist Episcopal Church., His
name was William Harris. He was born in Baltimore
of English parents and went to college at Carlisle,
Pennsylvania., He married Lida W. Timanus, who was
born in Baltimore. Her family went back to the
American Revolution., That's an odd name. It hap-
pens to be my middle name, Timanus. My grandmother
was a Miss Carroll and that's my first name, So I
have the family name,

I was born in Harpers Ferry, West Virginia,
because my father was the pastor at a church there.
Methodists went from place to place and stayed two,
three years, and then moved. My mother had a favorite
uncle whose name was Ethelbert Shipley. When I was
born I was named Ethelbert Shipley. Can you imagine
going through life with a name like that? Fortunately
my mother's oldest brother died about six weeks after
I was born, so they passed up the idea of attaching
Ethelbert to me, and I became Carroll Timanus, which
was his name. A sister born two years later got the
name of Ethelberta.

When were you born?

I was born December 11, 1891,

Do you have many brothers and sisters?

I had an older brother, who died when he was twenty;
a younger brother, fourteen years younger than I am;

and four sisters. We were seven in the family. Two
sisters and my brother are still living.
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Harris:

Teiser:

Harris:

Teiser:
Harris:
Teiser:

Harris:

My people eventually settled, after my father
retired, in and around Washington. I have a sister
that lives in Lynchburg, Virginia. Another sister
lives in Washington, D.C., and my brother lives in
Florida.

There's a funny thing in the family background.
Maybe these things point to something. My father
first learned the machinist trade, and he worked for
a company in Baltimore that made "Dorman" job presses,
Then he got what is known in religious circles as
"the call" to be a minister (I don't know what it is,
but you get something from up above). Then he went
to Dickinson College, at Carlisle, Pennsylvania, and
studied to be a minister.

Did he continue interest in presses at all?

No. But he was an intellectual and had a big library.
I got my love of the contents of books at a very,

very early age. I remember once my father told me

(I couldn't have been more than twelve or fourteen),
he said, "Son, read everything that comes in front

of you, good, bad, and indifferent. Then you can
judge the good from the bad."

That was pretty liberal, wasn't it?
He was a liberal.
Your schooling, then, was--?

Schooling was in public schools in various little

towns around Baltimore, in the state of Maryland. I
went to high school at Laurel, which is halfway between
Washington and Baltimore. They had sort of a little
military outfit there. I was pretty young at the time,
but I wore a uniform and drilled. I guess that gave

me my first desire, some day, to be in the military.

I always liked to wear a uniform and march up and

down., I thought I was doing something.

We moved to Baltimore when I was fourteen, in
the spring of 1908--no, 1907. I was fifteen years
old. In that fall I entered the Baltimore Polytechnic
Institute, which was a combination of an advanced high
school and a junior college where they emphasized
mathematics and engineering. I graduated from there
in 1910. Each year they would take two of the students
out of the graduating class, either because they parted
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Harris:

their hair the right way or something, and would give
them the position as assistant instructor for the
following year. This ‘job helped to pave the way for
something else they wanted to do. I was one that was
selected, so I taught there for the year. I was
eighteen when I graduated. I taught there the fol-
lowing year. My plans, at the time, were to go to
the University of Pennsylvania, where in two years I
could have gotten my degree as a mechanical engineer.
That's the direction I thought I was headed,

In the meantime, a man who had a great deal of
influence on my life talked to me. That was the
spring of 1911. I used to see him at some friends'
house in Baltimore, where he would stop from time to
time. This man lived in Washington. His name was
J. Maury Dove. He asked me what I had planned to do
and I told him, He said, "Perhaps you would like to
cane with the Monotype Company.” Well, I didn't know
what the Monotype was and told him I didn't. He knew
of my working experiences during four summer periods.
I had worked for a building contractor a couple of
summers; I was employed in a machine shop two summers,
He said, "Well, come over and see us."”

So he invited me to come over to Philadelphia
and see the Monotype. The Monotype factory was at
Thirteenth and Callow Hill streets then. He was the
president of the Lanston Monotype Company. In fact,
he was the man who raised the money to finance the
inventor, Tolbert Lanston.

Well, I was quite excited when I went over,
spent a couple of days and saw this factory. So I
figured, "I think I'd like to come to this company."
He was a very considerate man. He said, “You'd
better go home and see your folks." (They were then
living in West Virginia.) "How about starting in
about the first of August?" I agreed.

This is an interesting thing: when I started
to work with him I didn't know what I was going to
do or what I was going to earn. I just said, "Yes."
That's the way things were done in those days.

So, I came to work on the first of August, 1911,
with the Lanston Monotype Company and was put in their
school, where I learned to operate the keyboard and,
as a mechanic, to tear it down and build it up. Then
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Harris: I had the same sort of instruction on the Monotype
caster. That took about six months training, after
which I was an instructor in that school for three
or four months. Then I was assigned to the technical
publication department of the Monotype Company as a
sort of a messenger boy and assistant to the head
of this section. They were then getting out that
monumental technical book on the Monotype known as
The Monotype System. I read proof on that and ran
to the printer with corrections, et cetera, et cetera.
But I was in a position where I could see and learn
a lot about the technique of the Monotype.

I kept that job until the spring of 1913 when
I reached a small crisis in my life. I had become
acquainted with a man who lived in Philadelphia who
was connected with the Department of Agriculture. He
offered me a civil service position with the Department
of Agriculture as a sort of ingenious mechanic who
would devise testing equipment for packing and shipping
agricultural products. It was a very attractive offer
and I didn't know what to do. I didn't quite like the
work I was doing with the Monotype Company, mainly be-
cause my boss used to dress me down every morning,
whether I needed it or not.

Teiser: [Laughter] On principle?

Harris: On principle. So I went to Mr. Dove and I told him
quite frankly what the offer was, and asked him for
advice, not as my boss but as my friend. He said,
"Well, it's strange. I have a report on you, and we
have other plans for you. I won't tell you until you
make up your mind what you want to do. But,” he says,
"here's the letter, and the report.*

I said, "I want to write to my father.*

Teiser: Was the report one showing that you were working very
satisfactorily?

Harris: Oh, yes. It was very flattering, I think. Must've
been. I wrote my father and he wrote back a short
letter and said, "It's your life, you have to make
your own decisions. I'm sure, the way you've outlined
this, you'll make the right decision.” Then I went
to Mr. Dove, informing him that I wanted to remain
with the Monotype Company, and he said, "We plan to
send you to Boston as the office man up there in the
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Harris:

Teiser:

Harris:

Harris:

branch office. We think it's time for you to go into
another type of activity with the company.” So I went
up to Boston--

May I interrupt you here with a question? How large
was the Monotype Company at thie time?

It was quite an important company. Their net worth
was about six million dollars, which was a lot at that
time. I would say that their employees then numbered
four or five hundred people. It was considered a very
large company.

To Boston with the Monotype Company

This was 1913, I was twenty-one. So I went to Boston.

The manager of the Boston district was Mr. John lewis.

I succeeded another man who was transferred up to

Canada, The first day I was on my own, the buzzer

at my desk rang. That meant I should go in Mr. Lewis'

2ffice. He said, "Bring your book in and take dicta-
on,"

I said, "I'm very sorry, but I can't even operate
a typewriter, much less take dictation.”

He said, "That's involved with your job. You
better go out and hire a stenographer.” Which I did
very hastily and got somebody in there. And then
there wasn't too much for me to do because the man
who had preceded me had been a male clerk and steno-
grapher, 1 was getting a lot of money then--the
salary was $25 a week. That was considered quite good
for a fellow twenty-one years old.

I would get calls from various customers. I
seemed to develop a desire that I'd like to see these
men I was talking to on the phone. The Monotype was
very active in Boston, all the New England states.
They were doing a big business there. So 1 asked
Mr. Lewis one day--I said, "If I keep my work up in
the office, would it be all right for me to call and
get acgquainted with the customers, because then I
think I could serve them better?”

And he said, "Well, that's a very good idea.”
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Harris:

He said, "In fact, nobody's ever done that in your job
before."

I said, "Well, that's fine." So I got acquainted
with all the customers and got to know them. One man
I met was a Mr. Dunn who owned a plant called the
Spartan Press. I think he gave me two very good les-
sons, One, he was extremely interested in type. The
various type faces up to that time, to me, were like
a mystic maze, I said, "How do you learn? You seem
to know all the type faces. How do you do it?"

And I remember as though it were yesterday. He
said, "You get one face (the best one would be Caslon)
and you learn that so you know it every place you
see it. And then, after you learn that well enough,
you take another face and you see where it varied
from Caslon and what its characteristics are that
are different from Caslon.” Then he explained to me
the difference between the old style, the moderns, the
antiques, et cetera.

I used to see him very frequently and he coached
me in my desire and ability to learn about type faces,
which has been one of my loves ever since . . . well,
that's well over half a century ago and I am still
just as interested in type faces.

Another lesson he taught me, which was a per-
sonal one--I came from what was called the South, and
I had very definite ideas about chivalry and the color
of a person's skin. I'm ashamed of it now. One day
after lunch he said, "I want you to meet a friend of
mine.”™ And he took me to the New England branch of
the Miehle Printing Press Company and took me in to
meet the New England manager. As I walked in, this
man was a Negro with a skin as black as that tele-
phone. I shook hands with him, sat down, talked. I
guess I was a little strained. [Laughter] 1I'd never
done that before.

As we left I said to him, "That was an awful
thing you did to me."

He said, "I did it purposefully. Just think
how much better he has to be to hold that job than
you or me." And I think that was the beginning of
my being able to completely eradicate from my makeup
any prejudice against any race or religion.






Teiser:
Harris:
Teiser:

Harris:

That's interesting,
Is this the kind of stuff you want?
Yes.

Then there was another incident 1 can remember, about
1914, perhaps. This would be--no this would be 1913,
late in 1913, after I'd gotten permission to call on
the trade and I could get out of the office without
telling anybody where I was going and have a little
free time to browse around and learn things. I thought,
"If a fellow could sell a Monotype he would have

really reached the climax in his life." I didn't know
whether I could sell or not. But we had two files in
the office; we had the active file of prospects, and
the inactive., These were people that had been called
upon and appeared not to be interested and never would
buy a machine. So I picked one of these cards that
looked like a convenient place to try out my new de-
sire. The printer was located in Melrose, which is
outside of Boston about like Burlingame is to San Fran-
cisco. I could make the visit by taking an afternoon
train and go there and back without incurring any par-
ticular expense or notice on the part of the "boss.”
This was a secret project of mine.

I walked into this plant, the Melrose Messenger,
and introduced myself to the proprietor, who_EIEE-%ZE
the only employee. He had a Simplex typesetting
machine. The Simplex machines were made of two drums.
The upper drum was the reservoir for the type and the
nicks were something like the nicks on the Linotype
matrix. As the drum turned around each piece of type
would fall into its proper channel, Then the operator,
when he hit a key, released a piece of type; if he hit
an a a piece of type would drop out of the a channel
on the lower part of the drum. These machines, when
they got worn to the point where the two drums moved
over each other would get rounded. Then the drums
would shear the type, and it would fly out of the
machine onto the floor. Wwhen I arrived at this man's
plant he was getting out his weekly edition and he was
a little bit late and he was having trouble with his
machine, and there was a hatful of broken type on the
floor and he was completely exasperated.

He said, "I'm too busy to talk, for you see, I'm
having trouble.”






Harris: I said, "Yes, but I have a lot of time on my
hands. Maybe there's something I can do around there
to help you,"

He said, "Yeah. You can stack up those papers."
And he gave me a few chores and I worked around there
the remainder of the day. Finally he got his papers
off the press., Then I helped to deliver them over
to the post office. And, oh, I didn't get away from
there 'till quite late in the evening, all the time
talking about the Monotype. And I could see some
interest. Of course I wasn't an experienced sales-
man but I figured I had a deal. I took the late night
train back to Boston. Before leaving I made an ap-
pointment to see him the following week. And just
on the chance that I might make a sale, I drew up a
contract, all ready for a signature. And believe it
or not, he signed it on the second trip.

It was close to four thousand dollars worth of
sales. And I dramatized this., I just dropped it on
the boss's desk the next morning. Said nothing about
it. And he rang his buzzer.

He said, "Who helped you with this?*®
I said, "Nobody, sir."

He said, "Hire somebody to do the work you do
in the office. Now I'm going to make a salesman out
of you." This was the thing that opened up an entirely
new field to me. I was no longer a clerk or an office
man. I was going to be an outside man.

Teiser: Who was your boss then?

Harris: Lewis still, He was the finest salesman I've ever
known. He could sell ice to Eskimos. He was that
sort of man, and he taught me the technique of
selling--the timing of when you put the pressure on,
when you know you have it made and then quit talking
and get the signature and get out.

In the fall of 1914, as a result of the war in
Europe, the Monotype Campany received notice cancel-
ling all English orders. This was a terrible blow to
the American Monotype Company. Half its volume of
business was gone. In those days the bulk of the
Monotype machines and parts for the European market
were made in America and were shipped over to England.
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Harris:

Harris:

So I was making $25 a week, and the first notice I
got of this blow that all Monotype employees were cut
ten percent. Two weeks later we got another notice
that we were cut another fifteen percent. That made
a total of twenty-five percent and left me with a
little over $17 a week to live on. I had financial
obligations to meet. This was a terrible ordeal for

a few months, until Monotype management devised a
system whereby the people on the sales force would

be on a bonus. They had to sell a certain amount to
cover their salary and then above that they got a
commission which increased in percentage as the total
volume of the employee's sales rose, sort of like in-
come tax does: the higher the income the higher the
percentage to pay.

Now, I had, I suppose, an unfair advantage over
everyone else. Because I opened the mail every morning,
I got all the tips. So I went to town. This new
thing was calculated every three months and then we'd
get a bonus check. The first three months I not only
restored my cut in pay but almost doubled my salary.

As I say, I had the advantages. I tried harder, just
like some people who rent cars do. I got a very suave
letter from the sales manager, Mr. Wilfred Bancroft,
that he knew I'd worked hard and so forth and so on,
but--and he sent me the check for my bonus--but it was
kind of unfair to the other salesmen for me to be in

a position of being on a commission. So therefore
they had decided, in their great wisdom, to restore

my cut and increase my salary to $40 a week. [Laughter]

World War I Army Service

Then I stayed with them until April 13, 1917, when I
enlisted in the Army. I started out one morning. The
war had been on a week and I wasn't in it. Something
had to be done. So I left the office, walked across
the Boston Common, and read all the signs: the
Marines, the Navy, et cetera. I didn't care for the
Navy because--this is a point I left out--during the
last three years I was at the Polytechnic Institute

I was in the Naval Reserve. I lied about my age and
got in a couple of years before I should., They used
to go on summer cruises. I didn't like the Navy.

The sign that appealed to me most was *Join the Army
Engineers.” So I went over and enlisted and came
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Harris:

10

back to the office and told the new manager, who was
Mr. Richard Beresford, that I had enlisted.

He said, "You don't have to be in such a hurry,
do you?"

I said, "I don't want this thing to get over
before I'm in it." As you remember war was declared
April 6., I enlisted on Friday, April 13. We had
training the rest of that spring and summer, in
Boston. We took a course in military engineering
at Wentworth Institute, which was a technical
school in Boston. I was then a few months past
twenty-five, and most of the fellows were much
younger than I was., The outfit I joined had been
the First Corps Cadets, Boston, which was the oldest
military organization in America. That was changed
into the Hundred and First Engineers. At the time
I went in you had to be approved by the membership
to get in. I mean it was very silk-stocking stuff,
mostly for parades. But they had a fine bunch of
people. Not many engineers. Because of that I soon
found myself an instructor in map-making and map
drawing, which I learned quickly from some books
that I was able to get.

My promotion was quite rapid. As I say, I was
older, and had a little more experience. So within
a matter of a couple of months, I was what they call
promoted through all the steps up to sergeant first
class, who was supposed to be some kind of an engineer.

We went overseas in September of 1917, a convoy
that went up to Halifax, then crossed. We landed in
Liverpool and spent a week or ten days in England,
landed at Le Havre and went out to an area in the
Haute Marne district and built cantonments for the
Mmerican soldiers who were to follow, from September
to January of 1918,

Then we went up to the front and were brigaded
with the French on the famous Chemin des Danes
sector. This was a comparatively quiet sector. I
mean there were no attacks across the lines, but
there'd be artilery fire, particularly, that the
engineers had to watch out for because we were
fixing roads and putting up barbed wire. So we had
our first baptism of fire, We lost a few men, not
many. I think in our whole regiment we didn't lose
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more than four or five in the six weeks.

Then we went down to the Toul sector, northwest
of Nancy. Though a sergeant, I was then in command
of a platoon and had some very interesting construc-
tion work to do. We had learned, by that time, to go
in the side of a hill and build rooms. 1In fact on
this sector I had charge of building a complete area
underground that would house the headgquarters of a
division. We learned how to mine, to put in shoring,
and construction of observation posts and camouflage,
et cetera.

I had a very strange experience in that. There
was a fellow, well=-known artist in the East whom I'd
known as a young man, by the name of Leslie Thrasher.
He used to make covers for the Saturday Evening Post.
One night, while on the Toul sector, I was ordered to
go up and meet a sergeant from the camouflage section
who would instruct me how to camouflage for an obser-
vation post we were going to build in plain sight of
the enemy. We met at a certain crossroads at mid-
night. It was dark and we each had the password.,
This fellow came to me and said, "Is this Carroll
Harris?"

I said, "It's Leslie Thrasher, isn't it?" So
we were together for several weeks while we did this
job, This kind of anecdote I tell you because in the
making of a man, the people he's known, the experiences
he's had, help to guide the course he pursues.

Our outfit was transferred from the Toul sector
into the Marne in June, 1918, Our division went into
Belleau Wood, relieved the Marines. The First Divi-
sion containing two regiments of Marines had stopped
the advance of the enemy. Then we, the Twenty-sixth
Division, took over. That was what my regiment was,
a part of the Twenty-sixth “"Yankee" Division. We had
one sector in there. We were right in the Belleau
Wood. I had the good fortune, or misfortune, of being
in the first counter-attack of the day of July 1l8th,
when we started to push the enemy back. In fact, I
had thirty engineers and we preceeded the infantry;
we cut the barbed wire and blew up the enemy dugouts.
In this activity I was really lucky. Of these thirty
men three were killed and twelve wounded within an
hour, and I wasn't touched., That's the way it is.
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Toward the end of that phase of the battle I was
recommended for a commission in the field and was then
sent to a school down near Chaumont, After a short
course I came out as a second lieutenant, commissioned
in the field. (You know how they used to do it; the
ranking officer touched the top of your head with his
sword. What nonsense.)

I was transferred to the Thirty-fifth Division,
met them in the Argonne. Afterwards we moved and took
over a sector in Verdun. I was the engineer officer
with a batallion of infantry between the Fort Vaux and
Fort Tavannes,

Verdun, did you say?

Verdun, yes. These are two famous places. They were
quiet sectors then. By quiet I mean nobody was trying
to take part of their line away from each other, but
they were shooting all the time, particularly artillery.
Then, at the time of the armistice we were getting in
position in front of Metz to make the attack on the
15th, and the Armistice was the 1l1lth,

That was the end of my career as far as being in
any dangerous activity. The end of the year I was
sent to a school, God knows why, and spent two months
in a school at Chatillon sur Seine, Our instructors
taught us how to do all the things we'd been doing
for months at the front, but that's the way of the
Army. Except, I think, always when you go to school
you learn something.

We were stationed in little towns in France waiting
to come back to America. Our regiment, before leaving
France, was stationed just outside of Brest. We sailed
for home in May, 1919. Then I returned to civilian

life,

Return to Monotype: California and the East

After a short vacation I resumed my connection with
the Monotype Company as the assistant manager of the
New York district. In September following that
September 1919 I got a telephone call from Phila-
delphia from Mr., Dove, the president of the company.
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He said, "I want you to go to California."

. That was a Thursday morning. I said, "When,
sir?

He said, "Close up your affairs tomorrow, be over
here Monday, and you'll leave for the Coast the end
of next week." That's the way they did it in those
days. I went to Washington and said goodbye to my
family and left for San Francisco, arriving here about
the 5th or 6th of September. My trip across the
continent was on the Overland Limited, which used to
get in about 5 o'clock in the evening. The moment
I saw the skyline of San Francisco from the ferry,
I fell in love with this city. At that time the Mono-
type Company had a separate corporation here on the
Coast, and I was number two with the organization.

What was it called?

Monotype Company of California. They had a big office
here, in the Rialto Building. They had a branch
office in Los Angeles, and one up in Seattle.

Who was the manager at that time?

Frank Bowie. At the beginning of 1921, when I'd been
here almost two years, I got a letter that there
wasn't room enough in this district for two people
such as Mr. Bowie and myself because we both had
certain qualifications, I guess, and they had another
thing they wanted me to do, and would I please be
back in the office the last week in April.

In the meantime I had met a young lady, Made-
moiselle Marie Alexandrine Lange. I didn't want to
leave her out here. She was born in France. I met
her here a year previously in San Francisco. So a
week before my time of departure I convinced her that
we should get married right away; and we went East
on our honeymoon.

When I landed in Philadelphia I went in to see
Mr. Dove. He said, "I had a position all worked out
for you but you've spoiled it by getting married.

and I asked him, "Why?"

He said, "We were going to make a district
running from Denver to St. Louis, carve out a new
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district, and you were to be the manager of it.

You'd be away from home about ninety percent of

the time, and that's not fair to a young man who's
just gotten married. So," he said, "we really haven't
anything for you here now, but we'll give you a desk
out in the typographic department, and you make a job
for yourself."

Well, pretty soon things worked out., I don't
know. Maybe he thought I should've consulted him
about getting married. But I was the co-manager of
the typographic department with Sol Hess, the type
designer for the Monotype Company.

What did the typographic department do?

They had charge of the design and making of all the
matrices. And they operated an experimental printing
plant.

In about six months I really had a job., I was
in charge of the general sales office. I had this
experimental printing plant. I divorced myself from
the typographic department. I was really where the
action was,

I first was assistant to the sales manager.
Then a little while later I was assistant sales
manager of the whole company. This was in the year
1922, after I'd been back there about a year. Then
I was thirty-one years old. Always somebody was
telling me that I was too young to have advanced so
far, which disturbed me. This wouldn't come from
the top side but would come from different people who
were twenty-five or thirty years older than I was
and had about the same rank that I had.

I was longing for California. And I wanted to
be in a smaller organization where there'd be, per-
haps, less of this feeling of "You're moving too
fast," or "You're too big for your britches.” So
I wrote Mr. Mackenzie, who had a company in San
Francisco, the Monotype Composition Company he
called it. Mr. Mackenzie was from Washington, D.C.
He learned the trade of a printer in Washington,
then learned to be a Monotype operator, and he was
a good one., He was a very fine keyboard operator.

What was his first name?
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Harris: George W, Mackenzie. He was formerly with Lanston
Monotype Company, a man who took charge of new in-
stallations., I had met him in Boston previous to 1917,

In those days there was quite a rivalry between
the people who were selling the slug machines and
Monotype machines. 1In fact, if I may stop, I'll tell
you want the attitude was when I was in Boston as I
remember it. Your competitor was a dirty crook and
he should be in jail for what he was doing. [Laughter]
I mean that was the way you trained to be a salesman.

Teiser: Did you have any competitors other than Linotype sales-
men? What other slug machines were there?

Harris: The other one was the Intertype, just coming in. But
the real competition was the Linotype. I remember
one afternoon in Boston I saw the district manager of
the Linotype Company. I recognized him., He was a
Mr. Archer. And I thought to myself, "I'll see what
he's up to." So I followed him, I tailed him all
afternoon. He didn't know me; I knew him. And I made
notes of all the places he went and how long he stayed,
just like a detective would. [Laughter] I came back
and wrote this all on a piece of paper and gave it to
the manager. He said, "You did a very fine day's
work." [Laughter] You see competition was a little
different.:

I remember one gquote--this is a little bit rough--
but the Linotype people were trying to get the Lynn
Telegram to throw out the Monotype, because it was
a bag thing for the prestige of the Linotype to have
Monotypes in a daily newspaper. Some kind of shenani-
gans went on and Mr. Dove came up to look into it.

I met Mr. Dove, took him out to Lynn and brought him
back to catch the train for Philadelphia. And as he

left he said, "Carroll, I'm going to put that son-of-a-
bitch in jail, that president of the Linotype Company,
where he ought to've been years ago." [Laughter] Here's
the head of two big companies; that was the feeling

they had., Well, needless to say, they didn't either

of them deserve to go. But it was a good spirit, to

get enthused,

Well, to get back to Mr. Mackenzie. I had met
him at the Lynn Telegram where he was in charge of the
Monotype department. Then I got much better acquainted
with him the two years I was here in San Francisco.
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He had the first trade composition plant with Monotype
in San Francisco, He was preceeded by two or three
other plants that had all Linotypes. He came out to

the 1915 Fair.* At the end of the Fair in December
1915, he started this company down at First and Mission,
the northwest corner.

Did you say that he had operated the Monotype at the
Fair?

Yes. He was in charge of the Monotype exhibit at the
1915 Fair.

What did they have there, do you know?

They had two keyboards and two casters, I think. They
had a pretty good exhibit,

How did they put on exhibits that would interest the
general public?

Oh, this machine that you put cold metal in that heats
up and pages of type come out, was a fantastic thing.

Did they pull proofs?

Oh, yes. They had it set up like it was a little
print shop, with a proof press.

Are there any examples of that printing left, I wonder?

I don't think so. I think we've got some of the
machines around here. They've been rebuilt many times.

Mackenzie started with very little capital, but
his business had developed. He'd done very well,

Did he use those two machines, then?

Yes. He bought those machines, You see, they were
here; he got them at a special price and no freight
to pay. He saw there was a need for a Monotype trade
plant. But he always thought that the machine pri-
marily was for tabular work. That was the kind of
work he went after, rate books, railroad tarrif, et
cetera, which it does do better than any other
machine.

* The Panama Pacific International Exposition.
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During my two years at the sales department in
Philadelphia, I talked with many people and I got more
and more the feeling that somebody someplace ought
to promote a trade plant--T wasn't alone in this--
but that some place out here somebody ought to have
a trade plant where you did fine work, advertising
composition. And just plain, straight matter for
books could be done better on a Monotype than on
anything else.

That was not the general feeling at that time?
No. A few people knew how to do it, but not many.

So, 1, by correspondence, made an arrangement
that I would like to go in with Mr, Mackenzie. And
he needed a salesman more than anything. We made a
deal where the company would be incorporated and I
would put in what cash I had.

As a matter of fact we'd been married two and a
half years, had a son born; hadn't any money left
when we finished our honeymoon and didn't get much
wages from the Monotype Company. My wife never
worked. But you know, at the end of that two and a
half years I had $2,500 in cash to put in this busi-
ness. So we really had borne down on saving. That's
what I used to buy my first block of stock in Mac-
kenzie & Harris and came out here and joined Mackenzie.
In January, 1924, the company was incorporated.*

Now I think we should go back. Should we go
back and take the influences that affected me at the
Monotype, recollections of that?

Yes. I don't think that the history of the Monotype
Company has been recorded very much, has it?

The only thing that has been recorded of any conse-
quence is an article in the English Monotype Recorder
which was written by Beatrice Warde.

*See also pp. 37-38.
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Goudy, Kittredge, Rogers and Rudge

I think I'd better take two parts. Let's take the
people and events that influenced me in the Monotype
Company. And then at another time 1'll go back and
tell all I remember about the Monotype Company, its
early parts.

When I got back to Philadelphia in 1921 I was
making this job for myself; it gave me a terrific
opportunity to meet people who were worthwhile in
printing. Frederic Goudy was a legend to me before
that. I knew the Monotype Company when I was up in
Boston had the Goudy 38E, which is Goudy Light. That's
one of Goudy's early faces available on the Monotype
machine. In the meantime, and about the time I went
back to Philadelphia, Goudy had been employed in an
advisory capacity to caome to the Monotype Company two
or three days each week to advise about and super-
intend all their typographic work. They bought the
rights to make Kennerley from him. Following that,
Goudy Garamont No. 248E, Goudy Italian 0ld Style,
Goudy Text, all the gamut of faces he did for them.

If there's anything that I can be thankful for
in my life it's the people who I have associated with
and who've been so helpful to me: it's just a richness
of experiences and gifts of themselves to me that I
have had that have influenced me greatly. One of the
people was Mr. Goudy. I met him shortly after I went
back to Philadelphia in 1921. We seemed to get along
from the very beginning.

When he'd come over each week, he'd go in to see
the president or general manager, and then he'd come
over to my desk and we'd talk. With trepidation I
invited him to come out to our house one evening for
dinner. He stayed until very late. The next time
his wife was with him, Bertha Goudy; both of them came.
In the course of a few months, whenever either of them
or both of them came to Philadelphia, they stayed at
our little apartment. I used to sit up until three
and four o'clock in the morning asking him questions,
which he would answer, about the history of type and
printing and the whys and wherefors of the history of
printing.

He was by then established?
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Oh, yes, he had a big reputation. Then when we came
back to the Coast in 1924, he came here at least once
a year, and he always stayed at our home, so that I
was able to learn from him things that you'd have to
go a long time in some educational institution to
pick up.

Let me interrupt you to ask what he looked like.

He was short, a little heavy set, rather--I must have
some pictures of him,

Was he dark?

No, he was more sandy-haired. Hair brushed back,
sort of light. Light, not heavy, graying.

What was his manner? Aggressive? Mild?

He was mild, but determined. Very determined, but
very mild about it. He was gentle; he was quite
gentle. He had a very keen sense of humor. The
twist of a phrase or something; very keen sense of
humor. He told, and liked to hear, stories that
were a little off color. He had a great admiration
for females. Up until he was way in his eighties

he was a girl watcher--which is a good sign, I think,
if people can keep that up. He naturally developed
an egotism as he grew older because he got one
reception and honor after another. Sometimes, even
though we liked him, he amused us. He came back like
Sarah Bernhardt; every year this was his last time.
So we gave him a round of dinners and parties, and
everything, and then he would be back the next year
Just the same.,

I have an etching of him made by an artist
here, Alexander Stern, in 1938, 1It's in our living
room right above the easy chair where he used to sit.
He liked the good things of life, too. He liked good
food; he liked not much in the way of a drink, just
an aperitif before a meal. He was quite different
from Bruce Rogers. Bruce Rogers was more of an
aesthetic person. Goudy could get down to the level
of anyone--a mechanic, and take his tools and work
with him. Goudy, you know, cut most of his own
matrices. He loved to be among the people in the shop.

Another person that influenced me in Philadelphia
was William A, Kittredge. When I went there he was
the art director for the Franklin Printing Company.
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They were doing better and better work all the time.
He was in charge of creative design at that fine yvet
large printing plant. He was a very clever person,
clever salesman. He knew all the artists. He knew
artists all over the East and Middle West. If he had
a book or a brochure or a series of advertisements
(you know in some of these big companies in the East,
they'd give a big concern the whole advertising pro-
gram for a year, direct mail), he knew what artists
to get, knew them well, and could get them to come
and help him, Kittredge was an entrepreneur, but he
couldn't do much himself., He couldn't make much of
a layout, but he was an organizer. The Franklin
Printing Company being a good customer of Monotype,

I always was meeting people so I got well acquainted
with Bill Kittredge.

Then he consulted and told me about his offer
from the Lakeside Press, which was about--that was
about 1925 that he got a letter from Mr. [R. R.] Don-
nelley to come to see him in Chicago. He went out
there and Mr. Donnelley said, "We want you to come
with us." Bill Kittredge was then making, I think,
about $5,000 a year at the Franklin Printing Company.
That was a lot of money then. Donnelley offered him
$10,000 a year to start and Donnelley said, "You're
to set up a separate kind of printing design and
control in our big plant. We'll call work under your
control 'Kittredge supervised printing.' As this
increases you'll get sort of a bonus on the way this
thing grows."

So he started very small. He had been recom-
mended to Donnelley by the Rosa brothers. They were
famous artists at that time. So he accepted it. He
went out there and set up a department with a few
people in it. Years later, in 1934, I paid a long
visit there and went all through it. It was a de-
partment with perhaps twenty artists and all sorts of
service people and layout people and everything you
can imagine.

This was the clever way they did it. The
general gquality of the Donnelley commercial plant was
good. But the salesmen would tell about this man
Kittredge: "Now he sort of puts the icing on the cake.
He will supervise everything of yours; he's a man of
reputation.” Kittredge was writing a great deal for
trade papers and so forth, and he did have a big re-
putation. “Now this will cost you five percent more,
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but it'll be worth it." The salesmen got an extra
commission on that work.

It was strange that every year more and more
work was pushed over to be Kittredge-supervised. And
they certainly increased the quality of the work from
the plant. Then Mr. Donnelley--I remember Kittredge
telling me that Mr. Donnelley said, "Mr. Kittredge, we
are well-known as a big plant, and do good commercial
work. But if one of your books or big jobs makes
people say, 'Donnelley is now doing fine printing,'
you will have earned your whole year's pay.” That was
something to shoot at.

Kittredge visited us out here, and we got to
know him and exchanged things. If I got anything from
him it was, "If you do something better you can sell
it." So many people in all lines of printing seem
afraid to do something a little better and get a little
bit more for it. They are afraid the customer won't
stand for that., I think I learned the opposite from
Kittredge.

2nother person that I met, of course, was Bruce
Rogers. At this time Rogers was with Rudge, William
Edwin Rudge, Mount Vernon, New York. An assistant to
Rogers was a young man by the name of Frederic Warde.
He came down to go to the Monotype school, while I
was there. I got acquainted with him, He used to
come out frequently to have dinner with us in our
home.

At that time the Monotype Company embarked on
getting out a series of monographs. The title of this
series was Monotype, A Journal of Composing Room Effi-
ciency. In connection with my job as assistant sales
manager I also bought all the printing and advertising
for the Monotype Company, and ran their little private
printing plant which had Miehle presses and Monotypes
and job presses and everything. I had charge of the
buying of all these monographs. And I still have a
complete file of them. We would pick various fine
printers and let each design and print the whole issue.
Rogers and Rudge did quite a number of them. This
afforded me a fine chance to get acquainted with
Rogers. He would come down, and I was the go-between
between the company and the Rudge company. Mr. Rudge
would work with me.
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I learned a great deal about the idea of design
from Rogers. I remember once I asked him, “Mr. Rogers,
what is the rule in mixing types?"

He said, "There is no rule. You can mix any
types. If you have good taste the result will be
successful. If you have bad taste it'll be unsuccess-
ful. Just that simple."” [(Laughter]

As you know, later on he designed this beauti-
ful Centaur broadside of ours, Mackenzie & Harris.
I went to see him back in Connecticut. We discussed
the whole thing. And I had a very dear friendship
with him over a long period of years.,

Did he travel about very much?

Not too much. He was in Boston when I was there. And
I used to call at the University Press. But I never
met him then. I wasn't quite in the class of meeting
people like him, I called on [D. B.] Updike once, and
I think he wasn't interested. I'm not sure how I even
got into his office.

What was Rogers like physically?

He was a slightly-built person. Sandy hair. Very
much like a professor, or maybe almost a poet. He did
everything with a lighter touch than Goudy. Take
Centaur: Goudy never designed a type quite as delicate
and light as Rogers did. I would say Rogers had a
finer sense of delicacy than Goudy. Goudy you could
compare with William Morris more, and Rogers--I'm
trying to think--you just compare Rogers with Rogers,
I guess. He was, of course, an ingenious man. This
is Bruce Rogers. [Pointing to framed picture.]

What a delightful painting.

There's a funny story about that palntlng. When they
had this Rogers exhibit at the Book Club, Al Sperisen
got that. You know, Rogers was living up in Connecti-
cut, at Danbury. Across the hill from him was an
artist, a famous artist., The Upjohn Company engaged
this artist to paint a typical doctor to promote their
drugs, to put in windows and things all over the
country. He came over to see Rogers. He said, "How'd
you like to pose as a doctor?" Rogers had a good sense
of humor and said, "Be delighted."™ [Laughter] They

*
Book Club of California
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had two sizes of prints of the painting in color.
When the Book Club show was over in San Francisco,
I paid for the frame and got this. It was done in
1933, If you come over here, you can see "B.R,"
He's initialed this "B.R."

Oh, Rogers is not writing a prescription; he's
writing his initials!

Yes, he put "B.R." on it. [Laughter]

Monotype and the Taylor Brothers

Now, may I tell you a little story? We talked about
this Monotype, A Journal of Composing Room Efficiency.
I was always getting crazy ideas, and one day 1 went
into Mr. Harvey Best, who was executive vice=-president
of the Monotype Company during these last years I was
with them. I said, "Wouldn't it be a fine thing to
get Henry Taylor to write an article for the Monotype
magazine and have Rogers design it and Rudge print

it? Then we would tie up the East and the West and
big names, so forth."

Was Henry Taylor that well-known in the East then?

Oh, ves, yes. He was quite well-known. I met Henry
Taylor in the fall of--well, I wouldn't say what year.
Maybe it was the fall of 1913, because he was at the
Harvard School of Business. I got a letter from
Philadelphia, from Wilfred Bancroft, who was the
sales manager, asking me to get in touch with this
young man and give him all assistance possible in

the information he was collecting for the writing

of a thesis, which I did forthwith and got acquainted
with Henry Taylor. His project was to write a thesis
on the comparative cost of composition. He later
graduated from the Harvard School of Business. He
was coming back with his brother.* His brother was
already in business here. He took the slug machine,
the Monotype, and hand composition, and he made a
thorough analysis. And guess which he came up with
as the cheapest for composition! Guess!

Hand composition?

*
Edward DeWitt Taylor.
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Yes! [Laughter]
I thought I was making a joke.

No! He came up with hand composition. And in later
years I can think maybe he had something. Well, any-
way, it all figured out that way.

So the Monotype Company didn't reprint his thesis,

No. It made them very angry. And Wilfred Bancroft
foolishly wrote a letter to Henry and told him he
didn't know what he was talking about. So there was
great bitterness between the Monotype Company and
Taylor. I tell you this because you can see how I
wanted to get them together. Great bitterness. When
I came to the Coast for the Monotype Company, no
Monotype salesman was allowed in Taylor and Taylor's
plant., If he sent a card in, they said, "We don't
want to talk to you." It was that bitter. The Taylors
were very determined people, and sensitive.

Well, when I came west--as I told you, I came
out with the Monotype Company--one of my assignments
was to make friends with the Taylors. (And I can
just about tell you that, and then we'll call it a
day.)

I came with a letter of introduction to Francis
Todhunter, the artist, from some friends of his who
lived in Port Washington, Long Island, where I was
living the summer after I got back from the war.

This is again somebody helping me, you see. All my
life this has gone on. The first weekend I was here,
nothing to do, I called up the Todhunters. They were
living on Culebra Terrace here in San Francisco. I
went out to see them and presented the letter of
introduction. They sort of took me in and told me
any weekend or any evening I didn't know what to do,
come out, have dinner and that was sort of like
another home because this letter I had was from a
very dear friend of theirs in New York.

One day Todhunter called me up and said, *Come
on over for lunch.® He had Ed Taylor there, the older
brother for lunch, for no reason at all except they
were good friends. This happened two or three times.
At no time did Todhunter say, "This man Harris is from
such-and-such a company." I was just a friend or
something. So, after a while, when I knew Todhunter
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better and had met Taylor two or three times, I then
explained to Todhunter what my mission was: that I
had to make friends between the Monotype Company and
the Taylors. So I said, "I'll tell you what I'd like
you to do. I'd like you to give a dinner party for
twelve. You're the ostensible host, but I'll 1lift
the tab afterwards. Let's have it at the Red Paint.
That was the old Red Paint, not the later one, but
the old one where they had sawdust on the floor and
everything. And I said, "Among the twelve I want
you to have Mr. and Mrs, Edward Taylor."

So we invited the Taylors, and I think Moore
Achenbach was probably there; there was a whole bunch
of people. Most of them are dead now. I was the young
person. Mrs, Taylor took quite a shine to me and dis-
covered that I was single and right away wanted to
introduce me around to girls., And I didn't like to be
introduced. I liked to pick my own. [Laughter] Any-
how, we had a big evening and we wound up two or
three restaurants after that (it lasted until almost
morning). And we got well-acquainted. That was the
purpose of it.

Then in a matter of three or four weeks after-
wards, not with any connection, one day I went over
to Taylor and Taylor's and sent my card in to Mr.

Ed Taylor: I wanted to call on him. He came out
looking at this card and me. He said, "You work
for that damn company?"

I said, "Yes."

He said, "Come on in here." So that broke the
ice, and I accomplished my mission. [Laughter])

Now, I'll tell you the rest of the story about
getting together the East and West on the Monotype
magazine. Henry wrote an article but we didn't pick
his subject. Rogers agreed to doing this project.
And Rudge was to print it. And Taylor wrote an
article entitled, “How to Improve the Design and
Quality of Printing."” I've got a copy of it here
somewhere. He wrote this long article laying down
innumerable rules and regulations of what to do and
what not to do. He laid down all these very, very
definite rules. You don't do this and you don't
do that. You don't mix type, you don't do so-and-so.
The manuscript came East. I sent it up to Rudge and
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he came down on the next train, He said, “Rogers
read it and he said the man's a damn fool. He won't
touch it.,"

Then I was in the soup. And we got our forces
together and worked on Rogers and said after all it
would be embarrassing. He said, "Okay, I'll do it.
But you can't put my imprint on it." In designing
this pamphlet, every rule that Henry Taylor laid down
was violated by Rogers. [Laughter] And it's one of
the most interesting and famous things I think Rogers
ever did. He didn't have to put his imprint on it,
But toward the end we asked again. He said, "All
right. If I'm going to prostitute myself, it's got
to be for a price. If you want my name on it, it'll
cost an extra $1,000."

Mr. Best, my boss, wasn't throwing money away.
He said, "Well, now talk yourself out of that one.,”
So it went without his imprint. I'll show you this,
next trip in here. I'm getting kind of hoarse.

That's a wonderful story. It's a good place to stop.
Is it a very big booklet?

Wait 'til you see it. Now everybody's dead, connected
with it. I can talk about it. I had it here on my
desk. I think I might have loaned it to someone.

You know, if we can in these interviews we like to
have illustrative material, and I wondered if it were
too big a thing to include a copy of.

You can make a xerox of it. Because this story, if
you read that and then see what he did--when I point
it out to you it's just too funny for words. And
Taylor played it straight and when he received his
copies he never mentioned anything at all. But it was
a little bit stiff, his letter. He saw it., He got
the point. [Laughter]

Would you discuss the pamphlet in some detail in
the next interview session?

Yes,

Good.
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II
(Interview 2--May 1, 1967)

Can you account for San Francisco's becoming a center
of fine printing?

The fine printers, the service people, (I mean people
like ourselves and Art Fay, who printed Nash's books
and so forth), and then the buyers. Now all this
stuff is based on those three elements of people.

And what came first, the chicken or the egg, I don't
know,

Some people have suggested that if it had not been

for Nash * creating an atmosphere and a market, potential
buyers, that these other people would have had a very
much harder time. Or maybe San Francisco would never
have become a center. Do you subscribe to that at all?

Well, he had a lot to do with it, He was a great salesman.
But this will all come out in the interview when we

talk about these people who sell these things. 1I'll

try to analyze the contribution that various ones

made.

Good.
Now you wanted me to--Is this thing on now?**
It's on,

We were talking about the period in Philadelphia, I think.
That's where we were talking the other day, wasn't it?
My period in Philadelphia?

Yes.

*John Henry Nash.
**The tape recorder.
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Harris: And of course these are the things, in that period,
that influenced me in my struggle to amount to
something, more than anything else., I was more
mature and I was studying things more actively, and
I had gotten married and I naturally wanted to get
ahead, and I was interested intensely in what I was
doing.

Now we go back to this pamphlet.* Remember, 1
said I happened to be the lucky person to represent
the Monotype when we were buying these magnificent
issues--sometimes monthly, sometimes two or three
months between--of Monotype, A Journal of Composing
Room Efficiency. 2nd I was dealing with such people
as Norman T. A. Munder. Munder was from Munder
Thompson Company in Baltimore; he was a noted fine
printer. The Eddy Press Company in Pittsburg. And
William E. Rudge of Mount Vernon, New York. Franklin
Printing Company in Philadelphia. There were others,
but not near as important as they were. Which gave
me a chance to meet the people that were designing
fine printing in the East and the people that were
executing it.

liow this story about Mr. Taylor writing something
that Mr. Rogers did not exactly approve of--I think this
one paragraph, which I shall read, will tell you what
I'm referring to. He says:

"Good taste and fitness also prohibit all forms
of stunt printing: overelaborated rule and border
schemes, things in themselves instead of incidents in
the composition, all blistering color combinations and
all discordant decorations, which for want of a better
term may be classed with the Cupids and Bunyans that
one of our humorists discovered in the ornament of a
certain New York house. For the printer, also, all
such are as foreign to good taste and fitness as the
cast iron age of decoration was to architecture."

I believe that was the paragraph that infuriated
Rogers. So we have the title where the word "Monotype"
is in Cloister Text, and the subhead, "A Journal of
Composing Room Efficiency," is in Cochin Light Italic.

—
Containing the article bv Henry Taylor referred to on

ps '25. The corxzect title: is “The Problem of Betterimng the

Quality of Printing." It appeared in the March-April 1922
issue of the publication; the copy to which Colonel Harris
referred is now in The Kemble Collections, California

Historical Society. Copy also available in The Bancroft

Library.
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The volume number is in a cartouche of very decorative
arranged ornaments from which was suspended an oval
made with rule which Rogers bent with his own hands
enclosing a picture of a Monotype machine, Then the
type there is Scotch Roman. Then the three lines

at the bottom: two in Cochin Italic and one in
Cloister Text. Then that's surrounded by a plain

rule plus a border. But in the main decorative thing
in the middle, the two things that hold a draped sort
of inverted fleur-de-lis--not quite a fleur-de-lis--are
the masks such as you usually see at the side of a
stage. "All the world is a stage," seems to be im-
plied. It puts a humorous touch to the whole thing.

Then you get inside. The title page is really
elaborate. It has the main line in a shaded type
similar to Card Mercantile or one of the old faces
that look like engraving. This is a type that really
looks like it was engraved, and shaded within the
heavy strokes of the letter. The subheads, the name
of the Monotype Company, the volume number, and the
date of publication are in Law Italic, very ornamen-
tal capitals, all capitals, with curlicues on the ends.
Then an elaborate scheme of arrows within the main
border, and little things at the corner on the out-
side, kind of a rosette, such as you see on a bronze
plaque when it's fastened to a building to cover up
the screw underneath. [Laughter]

The facing page is smaller but it's just as
elaborately decorated, the type being one line of
Cloister Text and the balance in Cochin Italic., Ima-
gine putting together Cochin, which is an old-style
face, with Law Italic and Scotch, which are modern
faces! Mr, Taylor, I am sure, would never have done
that., This goes on and on with the same freedom of
use of whatever type Mr. Rogers thought looked well.
Facing the first page of the text is a box surrounded
by arrows formed with a circle at the top, something
like a niche in the wall. Hanging is the word, "Note,"
surrounded by an ornament., It looks like a fancy
sign. All through the book, you see. Of course in
the main text pages there's not much room for decora-
tion.

Then, when Taylor's article was completed and
another was in there following it, “Technical Training
and Printing Management"--the top of that looks like
a fancy valence over a beautiful draped window.
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[Laughter] And the same thing over the article
"Ethics and Esthetics" by Frederic W, Goudy. (You
see, we really had big people in this. Mr. Goudy wrote
an article for it.) Well, I don't know how to des-
cribe this., It's a series of chains in a twisted
border that looks like a rope hanging from an oval.
And all of these ovals, of rule, were made personally
by Mr. Rogers. He would have an iron pipe held in

a vise, and he would put at one end a Bunsen burner,
which would heat it up almost to a red heat. He would
first cut a template, something that he would mold it
against. I think he made those out of wood. And

he'd start to bend this rule, and he would hold the
rule on the pipe close enough to raise the tempera-
ture of the metal in the rule so he could bend it
without breaking it. It was very ingenious the way

he did it.

And the back cover. It says, "Monotype printed
by W. E. Rudge." Everybody in the printing world knew
that Rogers did everything like this. And of course
his hand prints are all over it, every page. That
was probably the most courteous and most effective
answer he could give to Henry Taylor's positive state-
ment of how to do such a thing. But then we mustn't
be too critical of Henry Taylor, because his ideal was
Daniel Berkeley Updike. Everything he did he made
look as though Mr. Updike would have approved of it.
He was far afield from the things that Rogers did and
the things that Nash did.*

Learning About Printing and Type

Now we go on to the period in Philadelphia. This was

a time when the printing trade magazines were entirely
di fferent from what they are today. Let's take

The Printing Art. You've probably never heard of The

Printing Art.

It was printed at the University Press in Cam-
bridge, Massachusetts. The editor for many years was
a man by the name of Lewis W. Gandy. The burden of the

¥See also Edward DeWitt Taylor's untitled interview in
this series completed in 1958.
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articles in Printing Art was not on how to do printing
more cheaplvy or more quickly, but how to do it more
beautifully. People from all over the country sent
examples of their work, and he would analyse them and
show them in color or black and white, whichever they
had been originally.

That was the same case with The Inland Printer.
Although The Inland Printer carried a lot of adver-
tising, the frontispiece was usually designed by some
typographer who donated it so that someone could see
what he did. Then there would be articles about
different printers and plants all over the country
and how they did these things, what type faces they
used, et cetera, et cetera.

I was under the influence, or was acquainted
with, these people that were getting out these trade
papers, and also read them avidly. It had a great
influence on me, always searching to do something
better. There were some other papers, like Printin
and the Typothetae Bulletin. The United Typothetae
of America was the national organization of employing
printers, and they got out a bulletin. They were
more for the efficiency of things that the beauty
because the members were, of course, big plants.

I'd like to go back to the nearly four years
I spent in Boston, from May 1913 until I went to
France in the early fall of 1917, At that time at
Norwood, Massachusets, there was the Plimpton Press
and the Norwood Press, two large concerns doing book
work. Their main effort in composition was Monotype
machines; they both had very large batteries of
Monotype machines.

What was a large battery? How many?

They would have about twelve or fifteen casters and

an egual number of keyboards., That was a lot. Ori-
ginally they had gone from hand composition, and

these big plants, many of them, chose the Monotype
rather than the Linotype, because they wanted to
duplicate, as far as possible, the kind of book they'd
done by hand setting, and the Monotype naturally was

a big economy.

Then in Cambridge there was the University Press
and the Riverside Press, and lots of concerns much
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smaller, but all in a realm of transformation from
hand composition to the Monotype. And here I was,

a young man calling on these people, became acquainted
with them in their plants, discussed with them new
equipment, new type faces, et cetera. And I can't
imagine a better education for me for the years to
follow than these several years I had in Boston and
under the influence of--as I told vou before, where
I first got the idea of studying type faces, which

I continued right along. I didn't have any money to
buy books on type faces, but I would get gifts and
samples of specimen books, et cetera. And I still
have all the first things I ever started to collect.
I have never sold any.

Do you have a large collection?

[Opens book cases.] This is all about type. The real
rare ones I have at home. These are all foreign types,
foreign foundries.

Oh, my word!

Some here are books we've done. But these are all
about type down here. I find it very difficult to
catalogue and file type specimens. Books, biblio-
graphies are easy. I should've collected those along
with my collection of fine printing. But you can't
catalogue and be able to put your finger on books
where you'll see the origin of the first showing of
the type by such-and-such a foundry. There's no
substitute for the human memory, and I was blessed

(I think I inherited this from my mother) with a
photographic memory so that I can remember thousands
of type faces and study it and it'll start a train

of thought. And then I know where it originally was
done, who designed it, et cetera, which has been very
helpful to me.

You were speaking of Boston.

I just wanted to get into the story the fact that

this had a great influence. It was a great place to
be educated. And, this is apart from the main subject
of our interview, but I got some very good lessons in
business procedures and in what to do and not to do--
because the Monotype Company was one of the most
beautifully run large organizations I have ever seen,
in those days. The top man was the real leader, J.
Maury Dove. Next to him was J. Sellers Bancroft, a
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very eminent engineer. He is the man that made the
Monotype feasible.

Mechanically?

Mechanically. This is a good place to get into that.

History of the Monotype Company

Tolbert Lanston, the inventor of the Monotype, I
never met, He was almost ready to die at the time I
went with the Monotype Company, very bad health, But
he was an inventor. He was the chief clerk of the
pension office in Washington, a high-ranking govern-
ment employee., He lived across the street from

J. Maury Dove, who was a young man coming up. J.
Maury Dove's first business was a coal business, the
largest in that part of the country, retailer. And
later hotels; he owned three or four large hotels.
One of the early inventions of Lanston was the door
that you sometimes see made out of a sheet of air that
blows from the top and keeps the flies out.

Do they call it an "air curtain?”

Something like that. He was the inventor of that. I
mean he had all sorts of inventions; he was a queer
duck, I guess. He was just inventing. At the time
he was dickering around with that typesetting machine
practically everybody was doing it--Mergenthaler, and
then there was another machine that Mark Twain lost
all his fortune on, up in northern New York state.

Tolbert Lanston devised a machine which was,
first, a cold metal type-making machine. A strip of
metal would go into the machine and a piece would be
clipped off the right size, say for a capital A, and
then a die would come down and that cold metal would
be forced into the die to form the letter. Well ob-
viously you'd have to use very soft metal, maybe pure
lead, for that, and it wasn't practical. So the next
point of progress was to make a hot metal machine
which would cast letters according to certain sizes
which were proper for the letter. For instance a
lower case i would be on a narrower body than a cap
M.
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But there was no provision for justification.
So they came out onto a strip, and later on the composi-
tor would pick up the words that had been cast and
assembled and put them in a stick and justify them by
hand., This is pretty close to the Simplex machine
which I mentioned, where I sold my first Monotype,
except that for the Simplex they bought the type
already made. But all the Simplex did was to assemble
the words, and then they'd be justified by hand.

The first hot metal Monotype had this problem
of automatic justification. So Mr. Dove searched for
somebody to make the solution, He travelled all over.
I understand he made a trip to Europe., He saw people
in various parts of the eastern United States, where
manufacturing was done. And he found the man right
in Philadelphia. Mr. Bancroft, J. Sellers Bancroft,
had been general manager of the W. A, Sellers Company,
manufacturers of lathes and all sorts of precision
machines used in machine shops. He was ready for
retirement. This Monotype thing intrigued him; and he
solved justification by the use of wedges, two wedges
that move over and the mold blade comes back against
the wedges and they automatically made the letter the
proper size, Or at least they put the blade of the
mold in a pos1t10n that would cast a narrow letter for
2 lower case i and a wide one for a cap M. So he
temporarily came with the Monotype Company.

Mr. Dove had not intended to be a Monotype man.
But he got interested in this thing, got a lot of his
friends to put money in it, and about 1895 it was in
such bad financial condition that he was asked by his
friends if he would take over the business management
of the company and put it on its feet, which he did.
He stayed with the Monotype Company until he died in
1924, Mr. Bancroft, who was formerly retired, stayed
with the Monotype Company until he died, about 1920
or 19215

Another man that had a great deal to do with the
early days of the Monotype Company was Wilfred Bancroft.
He was a graduate of Massachusetts Institute of Tech-
nology and was the sales manager of Lanston Monotype,

a man of tremendous ability and enthusiasm. The other
man was Mr. Joel Clemmer, who was the treasurer.

I like to talk about these men because I knew
them all, almost like a son. I knew them so well that
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sometimes other employees thought I was related to one
or two of them, and that didn't help me a bit.

I like to think of one incident when I say the
discipline that you got helped a young man to get a
good training. At the time I was in Boston the Mono-
type Company was suing the Ludlow Company for infringe-
ment of patent rights on the making of the Elrod machine.
(Incidentally, they won the suit because the Monotype
Company had a basic patent on the making of strip ma-
terial where you cast a segment, push it out of the
mold, and then cast another one which welds to it.
That's the way we make rule and leads and slugs on
the Monotype stripcaster.)

In the middle of this suit three very important
men--]1 suppose they carried canes and had mustaches
and wore a square-topped hat--came into the Boston
office. I was the only one there at the time, and I
was really very impressed by them. They asked me
questions: the names of the directors of the Monotype
Company, the officers, and all sorts of things like
that. I thought they must be all right because they
looked so all right that I answered their questions.
They thanked me and left. I had sense enough to write
a full report of these people and their names to the
president, Mr. Dove, and tell him they'd been in there
and what they'd asked me and what I replied. Well,
it appears they were the lawyers for the officers of
the company that the Monotype Company was suing. And
whenever I think of this I can see the letter, just
like I read it yesterday, which I got from Mr. Dove:
"Dear Carroll, I've read your report with great in-
terest. The information you gave is distributed only
by officers of this corporation, a status you have
not yet reached, and I am sure you will be so gquided
in the future." [Laughter]

These things that you think about-- All my life
since then when anybody's that's strange comes in
looking for information about myself, or anyone else,
I.-clam up.

Now, to get back to the period in Philadelphia.

Do you mind if I shoot a few pictures while you're
talking?

No, that's all right.
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The people at the Monotype Company in the last
two and a half years that I was there were some of the
most skillful mechanics and skillful service people
that I have ever seen in any comapny, and certainly
not in more recent years. They had mold makers that
were some of the finest mechanics. They could make
these molds by hand (a good deal of the work was
done by hand) which would cast type to a limit of
accuracy of two ten-thousandths of an inch., I was
constantly in touch with these people because one
of my jobs was to take visiting firemen, VIP's,
through the plant to the big factory and explain to
them the things we were doing. We had a man that
could cut punches for making matrices by hand--Mr.
Biehler--almost a lost art. These were for special
characters. If somebody wanted a special character,
a trademark or a thing like that, he could cut it
by hand onto a piece of metal, of course using a
reqular rotary cutter like you use in engraving.

But a great deal of this work was done by hand.

So I had two influences. I got a deeper under-
standing of the ability of the Monotype to cast and
set type, which to me, then and now, is the finest way
to compose type. I knew all the possibilities of the
machine, the little things that you can do that you
can't write in a book. And also I was influenced by
these great people such as Mr. Rogers, Mr. Goudy, and
we mustn't forget Bertha Goudy. (I got to know her
very well., She spent many, many days in my home.)
And it seemed to me there was a great deal of en-
thusiasm and zeal to transform to the Monotype
machine the same skill and artistry that heretofore
could only be done by hand composition. This has
had a most lasting effect upon me.

Return to San Francisco

Now I think we might talk about what I had in mind
to come to San Francisco.

Yes!

In the first place, I became somewhat discopraged.
with the little, petty things that happen in a big
organization. Maybe I was a little too much of an
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Harris: idealist on that score; but I had, by some stroke
of good fortune, achieved a position in the company
that normally a man twenty years older than me would
have and I was fregquently reminded of it, by one
means or another--not by the people who put me in
that position, but people who were on a level with
me. Then there was, at that time, a great deal of
talk about the expansion of the trade composition
plant business. This was just beginning to be under-
stood. Up to that time--and unfortunately still, with
some places and some concerns--the trade plant was
just a cheap way to get out composition as fast as
you can. In those days hardly any trade plants did
any more than the machine composition, just the drud-
gery. It was so plain to me that if people with
the proper training and the proper imagination would
get into the proper area that they could develop the
trade plant further than had ever been done before.
And I was fortunate in knowing Mr. Mackenzie, who was
certainly an expert keyboard operator and in 1915
had the courage to start a Monotype composition plant
here in San Francisco. So, by correspondence, over a
period of a year or so, we arranged a deal whereby
I was to leave the Monotype Company and would come
out and join him as a junior partner in the business.
This took place on the first of January in 1924.

I left the Monotype Company. My immediate boss,
the sales manager, was gquite upset. But not Mr. Best,
Harvey Best, then the executive vice-president. (He
later became president, after the death of Mr. Dove.)
I think he understood what I was doing better than
Mr. Morgan, sales manager of the Lanston Company. After
all, I was his number one assistant, with the title of
assistant sales manager, running the sales department
and lots of other things involving many details. He
didn't know what I was going to do. I just dropped my
resignation on his desk one evening.

He came out the next morning. He said, "You
can't do this to me because I got you a promotion,
yesterday. It just went through.”

I said, "I knew that you were working on it, and
I knew it would be coming this time; but my decision
was made a long time ago.”

Then Mr. Best sent for me. He said, "What are
you going to do?"
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I couldn't tell him anything but the truth. Aand
I told him I was coming to San Francisco and going into
business with George Mackenzie.

Well, he says, "You know, I have a son, and 1
hope when he's your age he has courage to do the same
thing you're doing. Because you're only thirty-two
years old. If it works out you'll be happier than
in anything else you could do, to be one of the main
persons in a small business. If it doesn't work out,
you're young enough to get back in step. And there'll
always be a position equal to the one you have here
waiting for you if you ever decide to come back."”

So that was the way I left the Monotype Company,
and came out here. We were over at 560 Mission Street.

Now I think I should put a little note here
about who I had known in San Francisco, which in a way
affected my decision to come to this area.

I wanted to ask you, and I think this fits in with
that, something about the whole state of the printing
industry in San Francisco when you first knew it.

It was wide open. There was one Monotype trade plant;
there were several Linotype plants.

The one Monotype plant belonged to Mackenzie?

Mackenzie., Which he called The Monotype Composition
Company, which had been in business since 1915--the
end of the Fair. And I was quite familiar with this
plant because in the two years or so that I was here
on the Coast, 1919 to 1921, I had sold a great deal
of equipment to Mr. Mackenzie and I knew intimately
about his plant, and I thought I knew his problem.
We complemented each other. I ran the business end,
he ran the manufacturing end. Sales and so forth
was my part of the business.

Now I'1ll go back and show you that I really was
acquainted with the field here. Starting back in 1919,
September, when I came to California with the Monotype
Company--late that fall I needed some letterheads for
myself. I always liked to have nice personal letter-
heads printed, with my address on them. I used to be
quite a letter writer in those days. Someone sugges ted
that if I wanted a letterhead that was really good I
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should go to Haywood Hunt. He was then with the
Kennedyten Bosch Company. They were located at the
Carmen Johnson Building on Sansome Street, where

the Federal Reserve Bank is at present. I went up
and saw Mr. Hunt. That was the first time I met

him. I gave him my order. He seemed quite pleased,
and we chatted for a while. I told him what I was
doing here. And he did print some very beautiful
letterheads set in Caslon. Just my name and address.

So I used to drop in and see him from time to
time. One day, which was either December of 1919 or
January of 1920, he said, "There're some people, a
couple of fellows, just came to town that you ought
to meet because you're interested in the things that
they do." He said, "Their name is Grabhorn, and
they've got a place on Kearny Street." I think it
was 39 or 49; it was in that block. So I went down
and got acquainted with the Grabhorns. And I used to
drop in there from tire to time. I believe that the
Grabhorns came to San Francisco in December of 1919, *
So they hadn't been in business many weeks. The
following year they printed a Christmas card for me,
and I wish I had a copy of it,

Do they have it?
No, they don't have it.

They were getting out a little publication called
The Printing Press. Occasionally they would get it
out, and they always gave me a copy.

What was your first impression of them?

Well, just nice friendly fellows that were doing
things very interestingly, and to me they seemed
different from anyone I had ever known before. Two
or three items that are very, very rare Grabhorns
they gave me. They were a little more like pamphlets

than books.

See also: Robert Grabhorn, Fine Printing and the Grab-
horn Press, and Edwin Grabhorn, Recollections of the
Grabhorn Press, interviews in this series completed
in 1968.
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You speak of "they." Did you talk to both of them?

Both of them. I got acguainted with both of them,
very well, .

Did they seem to work together closely, or were they
quite individual?

At that period I would say it was an older and a younger
brother where they fit in just as closely as two people
could, very, very closely to each other. I think you'll
find out, in a book written about the Grabhorns by Gregg
I’nderson* where he spoke of his years at the Grabhorn
Press, where he said, "If Bob is away, Ed goes to
pieces; if Ed's away, the plant goes to pieces," or

some sort of play on words like that. That really did
fit., They consulted with each other: "What do you think
of this?" and "What do you think of that?" They

worked together,

I was interested in this just now because I've been in-
terviewing Bob and Jane also. Jane was interesting about
analyzing this relationship.**

I think if it would be proper in this interview I could
analyze why the thing finally broke up.

Why do you think it did?

Well, you have three talented people together, three
prima donnas. Then there was a period, recently, with
another one. So you've got four.

Who was the fourth?

Irma.*** You see, you have too many people of talent
together. And it happens whether they're musicians,

*recollections of the Grabhorn Press, privately printed,
29955
**See "Comment by Jane Grabhorn on the Grabhorn Brothers"
in Robert Grabhorn, Fine Printing and the Grabhorn Press,
ibid.
* %k %

The third Mrs. Edwin Grabhorn.
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they are painters, or anything. In my years of hearing
the great printers I knew, the only two that I knew
that didn't villify each other were Rogers and Goudy.
But the rest of them were always talking about the
other doesn't know anything, and what is he doing, and
this and that, and so forth.

I'm trying to build up the fact that even before
I came out here in business I was starting to get
acguainted and that I was acguainted with the Tavlors.

You said you knew Haywood Hunt at that time. What was
his position in the city?

The Kennedy-ten Bosch Company was one of the medium-
size, very good printers, of which there were a number
in San Francisco. He was the foreman, I guess, of the
composing room. Maybe he might have been superinten-
dent of the plant.

Both, I think.*

Yes, probably both., It wasn't too large, it was a
medium-size plant.

He was an outstanding man in the printing industry here,
though, wasn't he?

That's right. He was. But I doubt if he would have
ever made a good executive in a large plant. He had
to do most of the things himself. That's so often true
of fine printing, that the man who can do these things
himself frequently can't impart it to other people or
supervise other people to do it. That's something
that's come into our business and I think we've got

the answer to it.

Oh?

Which is maybe one part of our success.

*See also: Haywood Hunt, Recollections of San Francisco
Printers, an interview in this series completed in 1967.
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Monotype Trade Composition in San Francisco

So, I came back to California and put every nickel I
had into this little business., We started to get
ourselves out of doing railroad tariffs or catalogues
for hardware companies, all that stuff--which was
about all that the Monotype was used for out here,
except these fine printers. It used to disturb me
frequently: we would have a tariff rush where we
would put on twenty-five or thirty extra men, maybe
for a month; then when the tariff was over we'd lay
them off and go out and get new customers. Because
while the tariff was in we couldn't service any of
our reqgular customers.

Was this Southern Pacific?

Yes, S. P. freight tariffs, We kept about 5,000 pages
of these tariffs standing in type!

When you first came into it, how big a business was
this firm?

The business, in dollar volume, was about one eighth
what it is now.

How many machines?

Oh, about a fifth what we have now. We had about four
casters and three keyboards, and no foundry equipment

at all--just a trade plant house to do composition on

the cgalley, not made up into pages, with the exception
of tariffs, which, of course, we made up into pages.

In order to build up our volume we went out
after advertising typography. And we really broke
into something on that. In order to launch the fact
that we were cgoing to do advertising we bought the
Goudy Garamond type face from 6 to 36 point. We had
no type in the shop bigger than 36 point, of any kind.
We had Kennerley already, and 337 Caslon--that's a
copy of the original Caslon--and type suitable for
just commercial stuff, tariffs, and general commercial
work.

In those days I used to do a great deal of lay-
out work myself, I laid out a broadside showing the
new Garamond which we had bought, and I had it printed
by Arthur Fay at the Trade Pressroom. Arthur Fay was
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Harris: doing the presswork at that time for John Henry WNash.
This broadside was a very creditable job. And on the
back in small type it said "Monotype Composition Com-
pany," (we didn't change the name to Mackenzie & Harris
until about two years later). "Typesetters for printers,
publishers, and advertising agencies." We didn't have
any advertising then, but that was what we were shooting
at. The next day I went into Taylor's and Ed Taylor--
"Come over here," he said. He had this broadside
crumpled in his hand and folded so the only part that
showed was that little box. He said, "What do you mean
by this? Advertising business does not belong to you.
That belongs to us printers.” In those days Kennedy-ten
Bosch, Taylor and Taylor, and the Metropolitan Press
(which was Hartley Everett Jackson) were the people
that did the printing for and the typesetting for prac-
tically all the agencies in town. The biggest one then
was McCann-Erickson,

I spent about an hour with Mr. Taylor explaining
to him that advertising agencies and advertising com-
panies--or companies that did a lot of advertising--could
go to the paper houses and buy their paper, based on
quantity, just as cheap as the printer could; they
could buy their photoengravings perhaps at a better
rate than the printer because they bought more of them.
And the same way with electrotypes. Why wasn't it
logical for us, who were going to build up a typeset-
ting business, to sell our product to them just the
same way?

He said, "No. Only through us."

And I said, "Well, Mr. Taylor, will you guarantee
to keep our plant busy?"

"why, of course not!"”

2nd I said, "well, I'm afraid that's what we're
going to do." It was a period of a year or two that
the Taylors were very cold to us because of that. But
they finally got used to it. So then, after a vear
or so of my being here, we had work from the Grabhorn
Press, who never made any kicks about anything. As
for Taylor and Taylor, and John Henry Nash, we began
to get all of the type composition that they bought,
other than what they hand set in their own plant. It
was really a privilege and a great influence on us,
because we were constantly adding type faces and
before we put in the matrices for a new type face I
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always consulted these three to see how well they
liked it. Then I would go to some other people,
maybe some advertising agencies, art directors, and
people. But mostly those three printers; "Can you
use this type?" and "what would you use it for?"

So all through the years we were influenced about it.

I'll give you an example of that. Cowan's bib-
liography of the history of California was first done
by Nash about the time the Book Club of California
was organized.* And I believe that was the first book
they got out. 1It's now a very rare and expensive
book. In 1933 the three-volume edition (you've seen
that, haven't you?) of Cowan's bibliography was re-
issued--much enlarged over the first edition. Nash
again was the printer, He had the manuscript, and we
discussed it. And he decided he'd like to put it in
Centaur, So we bought three composition sizes of
Centaur to do that book for Nash, Most people thought
it was hand set., And I'm sure Mr. Nash didn't tell
them differently. If they said it was hand set he'd
let them keep on thinking it., But that was quite a
large job for us, and we plunged into that. We didn't
complete the Centaur up to all sizes until about 1946,
just before we got out this Centaur broadside**; that's
when we put all sizes of it in our shop.

Nash, the Taylors and the Grabhorns

Can you describe Nash personally?

Oh, easily, easily. He was such a positive man that
things stuck out, and the description sounds like a
caricature in a way. So, if you don't mind, I'll
discuss Mr. Nash.

Please do.

He couldn't stand Mackenzie. He liked me, We, both of
us, I think were pleasant as could be. It may be that

*Robert E. Cowan, A Bibliography of the History of
California and the Pacific west, 1510-1906, published
By The Book Club of California in 1914, The second,
enlarged edition was published in 1933 by Nash himself,

* %

See pp. 92-95.
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he knew that I, back East, had known a lot of people
that he had rather a high regard for. So I was con-
sidered fine with him, He always would tell me, "Now

I just want to help you along." Called me by my first
name, And the routine was something like this. He
would have a manuscript. He did a lot of work for
schools, such as Miss Branson's school and Anna Head's
school and places like that, the catalogues. They were
beautifully printed jobs. Or there might be a book

for someone. He would call up, "See me right away."

I would go over and, of course, first meet Miss [Nell)
O'Day. She was his secretary and she'd go in and would
call him out of the shop. He'd dome out and say, "I've
got this manuscript. They want me to do it and I don't
want to do it 'cause I haven't got the time, and they
probably want it cheap. Now, you could probably use
the composition, couldn't you?"

I said, "We always can."

Mind vou, this happened time after time, He'd
say, "Well, see what you can do, because you might want
to use it for a filler or something, and I want to help
you out."

So we'd come back and we'd figure it very care-
fully. And we would figure it to do it the way he would
want it done, which was not cheap. It was a little more
than the ordinary because we tell our operators in the
shop, even to this day, "This must be a Grabhorn, or a
Nash, or a Taylor, type of composition."” They all know
what that means. That means close to hand composition,
or better than hand composition; that's the way it has
to be set.

So I would prepare the estimate and deliver it to
Mr. Nash. He would make me think that he had to consult
with his customer. Then he'd say, "That's fine, that's
fine. You just take the manuscript back and get going."”
NMow that gives you one vhase of him,

Did you ever deal with Mr, Joseph FauntLeRoy?

!
Oh, ves, always. I knew him very well indeed. He
reminds me of another story. We'll just pick that up
when I've finished describing Mr. Nash.

Here's another anecdote about Mr. Nash. At the
time that he decided to close up his business here
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(I think he had had a slight stroke or something--which
was a warning to him--and he was going up to Oregon to
take it easy) he owned us maybe $800 or $900. It
wasn't past due more than a month or so. And he wrote
a letter and said that he had decided to close up his
business and he owed a few bills. He stated that in
order to pay them right away he'd have to borrow the
money; and if we wanted to take twenty-five percent
off the bill he could borrow the money and pay it

right away.

I wrote Mr, Nash a letter about as follows:
"Dear Mr. Nash, after all these years I would never
press you for payment of any kind, now or next year or
the year after, If it's ever convenient to pay this
bill, pay it; if not, we'll forget about it." You
know, he paid up in full within a year.

Now Mr. Fay, whom he owed maybe four or five
thousand dollars and was a sort of a nervous fellow
when it came to money, accepted his offer and took a
cut, and got a check for it right away. They were
in the Zellerbach building; they called it the John
Henry Nash Building, over at the corner of Sansome and
Clay.

That was built by Zellerbach, wasn't it?

It was built by Zellerbach, but they called it the
John Henry Nash Building. Fay and Nash were coming
down on the elevator. Fay, who was on the floor below
Nash (Nash had the top floor and Fay had the floor
below that) they both got on the elevator just before
lunch and Nash spoke to Fay. They knew each other very
well because Fay had been doing Nash's work for years.
And he said, "I want to show you something, Art." So
when they got out of the elevator they walked up the
street about a half block. "I want you to see my new
car." Nash had just bought a new Cadillac. 'Til the
day of his death Fay said that he helped to pay for
that Cadillac. [Laughter]

In order to serve the Grabhorns, the Taylors,
and Nash, I had to go back to that lesson I learned
when I talked too much in that office in Boston. Be-
cause in terms of knowing what the others were doing,
the fellow with the most questions was Nash, Second
was the Taylors; and the third were Grabhorns, they
didn't care much. But I made it a rule never to
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carry any tales from one shop to the other. In fact,
I've never done it in my business life--of what this
fellow's doing, how well he's doing, or anything.

But you know that Nash, for a time, was with the
Taylors. You knew that, didn't you? The initials

of that, Taylor, Nash and Taylecr, is TNT. And it

was full of TNT the whole time he was there. [Laughter]
And it blew up and he got out. He would ask me later
about this-and-that~and-so-forth, and I would never
know. "I haven't seen him lately." 1I'd just evade it
that way. And if the Taylors said, "You ever see
Nash?" I'd say, "Oh, hardly ever," and pass it off.

For all the years, as long as they were in
business our company maintained friendly relations
with them. Of course we've done many, many, many books
for all three of these fine printers. That.was the
main influence on the selection of type and the kind
of equipment we had because we were able to satisfy
them, It made us take a broader view of our business,
because we found out if we had a face that was unusual,
such as the Centaur or the Van Dijck, it attracted
business from a long way off. We built this business
up around, I think, two things: the way our people do
work and the variety of type faces we have. This
sounds strange, and it almost sounds like we're from
Los Angeles and bragging, but we have the largest
selection of Monotype matrices that any plant in the
world has ever had. We're not the largest plant, but
we have the largest selection of matrices. That way
we've drawn work from far-off places. Take the Centaur,
for instance. If you have nerve enough to do this it
almost makes them exclusive., It cost us perhaps, oh,
$15,000 to put in the Centaur matrices, because you
have to have special equipment; they were all made in
England. Then we spent around $4,000 to have that
broadside printed, plus the $750 I gave to Rogers to
design it.

Who printed it?

Taylor and Taylor. And Bob Grabhorn wrote the text.
I didn't know that. He's a very modest man.

Yes, extremely so. Today it would cost more than
double to buy the matrices; I mean the price on them.

So if anyone wanted to equip himself with all those
sizes of Centaur that we have on that broadside he

would be in the realm of $25,000, perhaps, plus the
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Harris: expense of stocking it and telling people about it.
We just advertised it for years and used it for years,
SO many people think we have an exclusive on it. We
don't have an exclusive on it except that we got
there first and got the worm. And so that's the way
it's gone.

May I say that because we did work for Grabhorn
and because we did work for Taylor and because we did
work for Nash, we gradually did work for practically
all of the fine printers, smaller ones, that were
offshoots of the "big three" or came here from other
places. The Kennedys over in Oakland, Alfred Kennedy
and Lawton Kennedy we've done work for; we haven't
done all the work for them, but we have served them
with the things they wanted which they could find
here. With Grabhorns, with Jane Grabhorn and the
Colt Press* and the Jumbo Press when the books that
she did were not hand set, we set all of them. We
did the work for the Windsor Press; not too much,
their life was not too long here. For Johnck and
Seeger when it was Johnck, Beran, and Kibbee, when
we first came here--John Johnck, Chris Beran, and
Wallace Kibbee--and his brother who became an actor**
was the salesman.

Teiser: What was John Henry Nash like personally?

Harris: John Henry Nash was a two-fisted man in his talk. He
talked fast and vigorously. He was a two-fisted
drinker, and a large eater of fine food. He was a
very expensive man. He wasn't particularly modest.

He would recount to me (vyou see, I was on the inner
circle with him; he'd tell me things) what Mr. Hearst
said when he took the book, like when he did the

Phoebe Hearst book; that was hand set. He told Mr.
Hearst*** the book would be $45,000. Mr., Hearst said,
"How on earth can you stay in business and sell things
so cheaply?" [Laughter] He loved to tell stories. He'd
tell me about Clark**** the same way.

Teiser: Do you think that was true?

*See Jane Grabhorn, The Colt Press, an interview in this
series completed in 1966.

**Guy Kibbee.

***william Randolph Hearst.

****Nash printed for the Clark brothers, Charles and
William Andrews, Jr.
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I don't know whether it was or not, but it sounded
fine.

Did you have anything to do with the Clark catalogues?
No, they were all hand set.*

But we can dwell for a minute on Nash's setup.
He had an ability himself to set type and make rule
schemes., He was a superb mechanic. I think most of
his stuff was maybe not copied, but pretty close to
being copied. Of course his great ideal was William
Morris. Many of his things looked like William Morris
did it. He bought, in Europe on his various trips,
these very elaborate wide borders and things that
they made mostly in German type foundries, some English.
He'd bring these things back, and they were quite un-
usual and different from what other printers had in
their shops. The three big concerns: Nash was maybe
the William Morris of San Francisco. The Taylors were
the Updikes of San Francisco. And Grabhorn, well I
think he was in a class by himself; because the sense
of design that they have, and the innovations are
something that have seldom been seen in this century
anywhere. Little things. For instance, I can remember
a book (I don't recall which book it is, although I
have it) but it's a small book we did for the Grabhorns,
and he was searching for something else. This will
illustrate how I sort of fit into the picture of these

people.

Ed sent for me, and we worked around., He said,
"1 want to set this in Caslon, but the caps are too
big." I suggested that we take--I think the book was
set in 11 point Caslon--I said, "We can run the 14
point small caps in the same die case with the 1l point
lower case, and it won't look like Caslon at all. It'll
look like something maybe preceeding that.™

He said, "Let's see it." So we tried it out.
It worked fine, and everybody wondered what the new
type face was. The color was about right. You see,
the small capitals are wider in design than the capi-
tals. In other words, if you would take a l2-point

—
For data on Nash, his customers, and his work, see

Robert D. Harlan, John Henry Nash, University of
California Press, 1970.
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small cap and blow it up to the height of a 1l2-point
cap, it would be much wider. 1It's a different pro-
portion. It was the right color, and it let the as-
cending part of the letters stand up above, and it
gave guite a unique combination.

We've done all sorts of things. We would take
a type, maybe, and he'd say, "It seems so loose."

I'd say, "We can cut down a quarter of a point
on each letter on the Monotype. It won't affect the
design in doing this, and it'll make it fit closer
together,

I think we did this on several occasions. We
would take l6-point Centaur and run it on a l4-point
body. It would come so close together it gave it
a sort of medieval appearance. He'd sock it into
the paper and make it heavier; the Centaur is inclined
to be light and delicate. 1In all these things we were
learning what we could do, and he was learning what
we could do for him with the Monotype machine. This
went on for years and years and years.

Now, to get back to Mr. Nash, he was a great
party giver. He had his shop. He had no presses
at all; he had a proof press. The presswork was done
by the Trade Pressroom, Arthur Fay, Senior, now dead,
on Miehle presses.* Mr, FauntLeRoy carried out the
meticulous inspection of the work that was done for
Nash. When the forms went on the press FauntLeRoy
moved down to the floor below and stood by the press
until the job was printed, and inspected sheets--well,
at least every hundred sheets and probably oftener
than that. Nash would do the fancy border work,
fitting of initials, and so forth. The make-up of the
type pages was usually done by FauntLeRoy. Sometimes
there'd be a helper in there. It was a shop.

Mr. FauntLeRoy was a self-effacing, cultured,
gentle man, associated with a man that could swear
like a trooper. Nash could really wax profane in his
language.

*others also did presswork for Nash. See Harlan,
ibid., p. 38.
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And Mr. FauntLeRoy couldn't,

No, no. Did you ever know him?

Yes, I met him,

He was a very quiet sort of a person.

Some noted person would come to town and Nash'd
give a party. Maybe we'd meet down in his library,
which was next to the shop. He liked to brag about
his books, and he had some very marvelous books in
his collection. He had a Pigouchet Book of Hours.

I wish I could have afforded one. He paid $1,200
for it. He used to say, "I'm sure that book will
be worth $5,000,"--more today, for it was a perfect

COopY .

You see, working with these people I was still
educating myself in books and printing. In those days,
more than now, the good people--good mechanics and
people connected with printing--were going to the
past for ideas of what was done and how printing got
to the point where it was, and not doing so much
about getting a camera to substitute for type. Nobody
thought anything but type. It had to be type. And
most printing was letterpress, that is, printing
direct from type forms.

So the trio that made the Nash shop consisted of
Nash, FauntLeRoy and Art Fay, the pressman.

I think Lawton Kennedy did some of the press work,
didn't he?

Could've been, yes. He was there some of the time,
that's true. You will get that in your interview
with Lawton, how much of that work he did.*

Now the difference between the three leaders,
the “greats" here, is apparent. The Taylors were
scholarly. That is, Henry was scholarly and Ed was
sel f-educated and had become scholarly; not as

"See also: Joseph FauntLeRoy, John Henry Nash, Printer
(0akland: Westgate Press, 1948), and Lawton Kennedy,

A Life in Printing, an interview in this series com-
pleted 1n 1967.
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scholarly as Henry was. Ed Taylor started as a boy,
printing a little weekly. His first partner was a
man by the name of Stanley.* That split up, and
then he took in Henry, his younger brother.

) The Grabhorns did everything themselves, every-
thing. In not exactly a primitive way, but a simple
way. No cylinder presses. They had Colt's Armory
presses. Ed was certainly one of the great innova-
tors. His method of putting colors on illustrations--
while Valenti Angelo was there it started. Angelo
wrote an article and claimed credit for it, and I
wrote him and corrected him, He sure apologized for
that.

Was this with blocks?

Wood blocks or linoleum blocks, or something with a
piece of cloth on it, or all that., 1It's just in-
genious what they did. They would get the Meriden
Gravure Company of Meriden, Connecticut to make the
key plates, frequently, in their colortype process,
or something similar to it.

Mackenzie & Harris' Book and Advertising Work

Incidentally, we did a book for American Gravure last
year.

You did?
Yes.
what kind of book was that?

It was for a New York publisher, designed by Leonard
Baskin. He's a "great" back East now. The subject,

I think, is poisonous plants. Illustrated. I haven't
met Mr. Baskin, although we do a considerable amount
of work for the plant in western Massachusetts called
the Gehenna Press of Northampton. We ship the type

to them back there, and they print it, and I guess
sell it for old metal. He's the owner and, besides
teaches at Smith College.

He's teaching; and he's running this fine truly

%
D.S. Stanley
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private press. They just, last year, did a book on
Mosher, the famous printer of Maine, did a biblio-~
graphy on him.,* We set it here.

Mr. Baskin told somebody a few months ago, and it
came back to us, that if you wanted good typesetting
you had to send to San Francisco. [Laughter] Next
time I go to New York I'm going to look him up.

I should tell you about how we got into the ad-
vertising business, advertising composition, I'd
been here a few months, and we had to get into that.
So I studied newspaper advertising, retail stores.
And I thought I would pick Gump's; that was a good
place to hang your name onto. I did my homework
pretty well on that. I found out Mrs., Eleanor Finch
was the advertising manager. And I studied their
ads for several weeks, got quite familiar with them.
I went up and sent my card in. This lovely lady--she
was past middle age, but a very cultured woman--asked
me to come in. I, in my nicest manners, said, "Mrs.
Finch, I've been studying your ads for several weeks,
and I don't think the typographv is suitable for
Gump's."

She said, "I don't think so either. I agree
with you,"

And I said, "I thought maybe I could talk to you
about our setting them."

She said, "Well, we tried that once. And it was
too cumbersome because I had to have a conference
when I prepared the copy and another conference with
the first proof, and another with the second. And then
a conference with the bill. And I haven't time for

that.”

well, I thought up a new one., I said, "Well, we
don't work that way." [Laughter] "We find out in the
beginning what you want. You'll never see me. But
maybe once a month I'll drop in and see if you're .
feeling all right, if you're happy. You put a call in

RS T . . :
Burton L. Hatch, A Check List of the Publications of
Thomas Bird Mosher, 1966.
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Harris: and the boy picks up the copy, and we'll do the best
we can by it, and you get a bill, There'll be no
conferences.” And I said, “The bill will be easy
because we are going to give you a column inch rate."
I said, "But we must study a file of your ads for a
year, the sizes you run and the type of thing you have,
in order to determine the cost to you per column inch.”

She said, "I'd like that; it'd be interesting."

So I came out with a big portfolio. And we took
all the ads for a year and divided it by the number of
column inches. And 1'll tell what the rate was:
twenty-five cents a column inch! This was in 1924,

She said, “1'd like to start right now but I
have to discuss this with Mr. Gump." After I got back
to the office she called. She said, "Send up for
the first piece of copy." And we had that account
for about twelve or fifteen years., We survived two
or three of her successors. She retired and died.

But it was fine. Some of them we lost our shirt on,
the next one we made it up on, you see?

Teiser: Yes.

Harris: That started us in the ad composition business. We
found we needed a little bit larger than 36 point. So
we bought, I think, some large Caslon, maybe 48 point.

Then the next one I knocked off was Ransohoff's,
across the street. We did that for several years. I
believe for that one they'd have sale ads, so we
bought Cloister Bold. Cloister was the A.T.F.* type
that Nash used so much, and it had a very good bold
face. We bought Cloister Bold and Cloister Bold Italic
from American Type Founders Company up to 60 point.
Then we thought we had it made! We could set sale
ads in large type.

Teiser: There was a period in San Francisco when some news-
paper ads were gquite distinguished typographically.

Harris: Well, we had something to do with that. This is
going to be a little longer story. Maybe we can
start the next one about when we started to sell im-
ported type. You didn't know about that feature of
our career, did you?

E3
American Type Founders.
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No,

Let's start the next one [there].
to the end.
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We're pretty close
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III
(Interview 3--May 4, 1967)

Nash and His Associates

I think I ought to give you a little further descrip-
tion of what Nash looked like.

Yes, please do.

He was a stocky man, not as tall as I am, I should
say he was--

How tall are you?

Six feet. He would be maybe two or three inches
shorter than I am and a little heavier build, A

man so full of energy that when he talked he moved
about so vigorously you'd think he was holding
himself back. And he talked with gushes of language.

And when he got angry he was very profane and
could really finish people off in describing them.
And he had very strong likes and dislikes. Quite
different from Goudy, who was gentler and kindlier
and more forgiving in his makeup than Nash, For
instance, at one time Samuel Farquhar was writing
a weekly review of printing, or a review of fine
books for the Chronicle. He had a column, He wrote
about a book that Nash had just finished, and he
wasn't very flattering about some parts of the way
it was done. And Nash almost blew the top off the
building when he read it the next day. I think I
was in his office a day or two afterwards. He called
Farquhar everything, and said he was incompetent to
judge such work as he (Nash) did, and that he should
be fired. That gives you the type. Naturally, in
the feeling (I don‘'t exactly want to say "feeling”
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but the lack of love and kisses between them) the
most aggressive was Mr, Nash. I believe the Taylors
would sort of be aloof from the whole thing. That
was more their attitude. And E4 Grabhorn didn't
really care,

There was an interesting anecdote. Henry Lewis
Bullen, as you know, was the head of the library at
the American Type foundry in Jersey City. Incidentally,
his secretary for a number of years was Beatrice Warde.
Before she married Frederic Warde she was with Henry
lLewis Bullen, and that's probably where she gained
much of her information which made her so famous
later. He made a trip out here. Then there was
some correspondence between him and someone else. I
believe it was with Farquhar. He made this judgment.
He said California printing was like California women
and California fruit: good to look upon, but if you
bit into them they had no substance to them, Of
course Nash, in a rather ribald way, asked people how
many women old man Bullen had bitten into. [Laughter]
This sort of gives you an idea of Nash's ability at
repartee.

Aside from Nash's skill and good taste to set a
page of type and miter rules and put together orders
and reach almost perfection in that part of the work
and then insist on perfection in the presswork, he
was the greatest salesman of fine printing that I've
ever known, He knew how to dramatize it, The story
of what he had proposed to do at the end of his life,
and had gotten fairly far along on the plans, was the
printing of the Vulgate Bible.

Yes.
You've heard of that, haven't you? This project?
Tell about it though.

Mrs. [Edward L.) Doheny, then a widow, had sponsored
some things that he had done. She was supposed to be
the one to underwrite this. He was going to print one
thousand copies at one thousand dollars each, It was
to be a million dollar project. All to be hand set.
He described it: the type would be taken out to the
cathedral and the Archbishop would bless it before

he started to set it. [Laughter] It would be edited
by some of the Fathers, I think at the University
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of San Francisco. It was going to be something that
wealthy people like Mrs. Doheny could give to various
cathedrals and churches throughout the English-
speaking world, I wish he'd been able to go through
with this because it would have been something. But
about the time he had his plans pretty well completed
in his own mind the "pitch" to Mrs, Doheny failed.
Then Nash had a stroke and the whole thing, of course,
fell through., Can you imagine a better way to drama-
tize an edition of the Bible? I'm sure Gutenberg
didn't have anything as well mapped out as that,

When would that have been? In the Depression?

Yes, that was about the time. He didn't have the
money to do it himself., Then of course, after his
stroke his health began to fail.

Nash was a great entertainer. He gave luncheons
and dinners, He was a very active member of the
Family Club, He would give these luncheons and
dinners up there, and they were fabulous, During
Prohibition there would always be plenty of liquor
and lots of good food and lots of stories. It was
an exciting experience. I was fortunate on many
occasions to be invited to these things. Sometimes
he would have them in his library, which was adjacent
to the shop.

Those are the ones I'd heard about,

But the Family Club, it was so funny--perhaps it
would give you an idea. Before this letter, the
letter that was written about California printing,
Mr. Bullen was there. And he was the guest of honor.
This is not a Nash story, but it's a funny story.
Mr. Bullen had some new upper teeth., As he would
talk he would push them back in place. One of the
guests, a Mr. Eastman, who was head of the Spring
Valley Water Company?®, was there, and he interrupted
and said, "I beg your pardon, Mr. Bullen, are you
trying to whistle, or are you having some trouble
with your teeth?" [Laughter] And it almost broke
up--I think that story illustrates the lusty kind

of entertainment that we would have in those days.

Yes. This was all men?

e
Samuel P, Eastman
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All men; all men, so the stories could be of any kind.

Before you leave Nash, something ought to be on the
record about Miss Nell O'Day.

I knew Miss O'Day very well, She was the sister of
Ed O'Day, the writer, who afterwards was the editor
of the Recorder newspaper for many years., Miss O'Day
and Miss Hartmann were the two women in the office
there, Miss O'Day was a slight, small woman--about
your build, Very sweet, very pleasant, She was the
librarian. Miss [Mae] Hartmann was the bookkeeper
and credit manager, and she seemed to run the office,
Miss O'Day was purely the librarian., I could say
that she would be the perfect type of person to act
as a foil for Mr, Nash, who would sometimes get ex-
cited, She kept the waters pretty well calmed in a
quiet gentle way.

That's fine. That's just what I wanted.

FauntLeRoy, of course, he wrote the book about being
with Mr., Nash.* He was an able printer, of the old
school. This is extremely interesting. The Taylors
had a similar man, Dan Buckley.

Oh, I met Buckley. Wasn't he with Taylor and Taylor
until only a few years ago?

Yes. But he was comparable to FauntleRoy. I don't
know where FauntLeRoy learned to be a printer. Buckley
came from Massachusetts, western Massachusetts, one

of the fine o0ld plants out in Greenfield or some place
out there. Buckley was a compositor and was the shop
foreman or superintendent for Taylor and Taylor.

But FauntLeRoy knew what Mr., Nash wanted and knew
perfection and saw the job completely through. Now
Mr. Nash might set the style pages and the title pages,
and so forth. But the make-up of the book and the
carrying the thing through was FauntLeRoy's. A very,
very quiet, lovable person. And things were pretty
exciting around there sometimes, but he seemed never
to lose his head or be ruffled by anything.

F
John Henxy Nash, Printer, op. cit.
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Taylor and Taylor

Perhaps I should ask you something about the Taylor
and Taylor firm then, the people in it, since you
knew them so well.

I think I told you that Ed Taylor had started as a
young boy, to be a printer.

Yes,

He got out some kind of a little four-page or a two-
page paper., Taylor's father was Edward Robeson
Taylor, who was the mayor of San PFranciscoe--this was
before I came here, this is a historical fact--he was
after Abe Reuf's time, The citizens of San Francisco
and the supervisors picked the outstanding citizen
to clean up San Francisco and be the mayor, and that
was the father of the two Taylor boys. He was a
doctor, an M.D.; he was a writer of verse; he was a
man of great importance in the appreciation of the
arts, I don't know anything about the mother except
she was a descendant of Leland Stanford,* so there's
some Stanford blood in the Taylors.

EQ Taylor in his youth was an actor on the
vaudeville stage, His first name was Ned-~-I don't
recall the last name he used, but he was an actor,
He met his wife, I think she was a dancing girl
from down in the South someplaces* She liked to
forget those days and she became quite the grand
lady as she got older. In fact, I almost broke
up a dinner party at their house one night., My wife
and I were invited. She acted as "majorette domo,"
There must've been twenty-four people for this for-
mal dinner, black tie. As they came in she intro-
duced them to all the assembled guests. And when I
came in she said, "This is Mr. and Mrs, Harris, Mr,
and Mrs, Carroll Harris., Mr. Harris is descended
from Charles Carroll of Carrollton, who signed the
Declaration of Independence.”

I said, "Yes, Mrs, Taylor, but you forgot to
mention, with the 'bar sinister.' There were two
sets of Carrolls in Maryland but the rich as well as
the poor descendants were all in the same boat for
it seems that the o0ld fellow never married.” [Laughter]

S —
A niece. See also Kenneth M. Johnson, The Life and Times
of Edward Robeson Taylor. San Francisco: Book Club of
California, 1968.

**Her maiden name was Marie Griffith.
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I can tell you an awful funny story (and they're all
deag) about this, too, about Ed Taylor. Shall I put
it in?

Sure, put it in,

In their later years the Taylors built a very, very
large colonial house in St, Francis Wood, At that
time Mrs, Taylor's sister, who was a widow, lived
with them, My wife and I got quite well acquainted
with her for we knew the Taylors very well, We'd
sometimes take Mrs. Taylor's sister out on a trip
for a picnic or something. Frequently Mrs. Taylor,
Mrs, Edward Taylor, had said to us: “"This house may
be big, but there's a reason.” That intrigued me.
So one day, when her sister was with us on a pienic,
gisa%d, "What is the reason that the house is so

g?

She told us the following story. In his early
married days Mr, Taylor was interested in the oppo-

61

site sex--he had a roving eye, let's say, Mrs, Taylor
caught him once, and there was a big blowup., She made

a deal with him: that if she ever caught him again,
the house they were planning to build would become a
foot larger each way. And when it was finally built
it was one of the largest houses in St, Francis Wood.
[Lauvghter] Whenever she, in front of him, would say,
"There's a reason for this house being so big," he
would sort of smirk and look the other way.

Henry Taylor was a bachelor, lived at the Bo-
hemian Club for many years. He died a fairly young
man, He had an operation for appendicitis, He was
to return home from the hospital in about two days
and that night he died of an embolism, blood clot.
Very strange, because his brother, E4, had seen him
just about an hour before. He was in fine spirits,
sitting up and talking.

Did they get along well?

Apparently they did, until after he died. Strangely
I saw the will; Ed Taylor showed it to me. He was
quite upset. Henry left all his money to his niece.
He said his interest in the business had to be
bought for cash within a certain time and that went
into the estate of the niece, It made Ed very angry.
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Teiser: It put him in a spot, didn't it?

Harris: Yes. He had started the business and had taken Henry
into it. There was a statement (I read that) in the
will, that he wanted the world to understand that for
the design and quality of the printing that had given
Taylor and Taylor their reputation he was entirely
responsible. That's a terrible legacy to saddle on
his brother.

So all these years when they would be so
friendly, I guess there was something under the sur-
face, It might have been Henry didn't like Mrs,
Taylor. He only went there at Christmas or Thanks~
giving Day or something when it was a family gathering.
He had made some remarks to me that he didn't care to
go there too often.

I think I can take on, then, the history of
Taylor and Taylor.* Jim Elliot, Mr, James W, Elliot,
came with them as a young man as a salesman somewheres
in the 'twenties~-I'm not sure~-or early 'thirties.
He had an advertising background back of him, had
worked for McCann-Erickson at one time. I don't be-
lieve he had any financial interest in the business
at the time Ed was active in the business. But at
the time Ed Taylor decided to retire, which was after
World War II (two or three years) Jim Elliot bought
the business. I think he had a substantial amount of
cash as a down payment, and the rest on terms. He
took in with him Mr. Robert Washbish, who came from
Chicago, was a very able artist and designer of
printing and had very fine experience back there.
They stayed together until they decided to liquidate
the busines. This, I think, should be in the record,
because a company of the reputation that they had who
suddenly decides to quit . . .

In the first place, Jim Elliot, through invest-
ments and through his success in running Taylor and
Taylor--because he carried on the tradition of the
fine printing just the same as they had before--had
accumulated enough so he didn't need to work any more.
And they were confronted with the thing that many com-
panies have been confronted with, the wide use of
offset., They were letterpress printers. They had
some lucrative jobs, big jobs. In fact they only
had about twelve customers. They printed the Standard
0il Bulletin, which had always a large circulation,

*
The papers of Taylor and Taylor are on deposit in The
Kemble Collections at the California Historical Society.



- |
all = I -
- __-_l-
I - ) - -
- ' - -
Al [
' v B ol
! | B
" I
o 1 m 'l
[ n 1 P Nl
I I
I o
- - .
I- —a
m
| n |
. - 1
- -
- |
| B =
== | ) ) i
| £ = m
_‘ - - | |
pLo=. e - ;1 - =¥ L -
* 'm 82 mn 1 1 mi |
min - N | BNl E B BT (I = I H BN 4 ERWg-
: - = Bea’d mn amm mmadl sAmImN
N | pAmm [ A = qE [ -
wkdl B | -Lm--.-—":a“:ggatj -
mAy . _J-:'uqlgpz;q"u CEXINa
l!';‘ 1"'.',.9' m’g !'r--: s -
= g “ k “IFE",: a — - n
A

A -, = RS ol -
= etior T it —
l:ﬂd “mu Wf_. ;'i.[Ll n

B WY E w0Iii 0 mm=ild K Irws

= o=y s
LU ME S e
i =my



63

Harris: went to all the stockholders in Standard 0il Company
of California and I think to many of their employees.
Then they had another one that went to all the em-
ployees, called the Standard Oiler. These were monthly
magazines. The Standard U1l Bulletin was in four
colors for the illustrations.” Y think maybe fifty
or seventy-five thousand copies of each of them.
Then they did the California Packing Company and the
PG&E annual reports, which were very elaborate. They
had that kind of work.

With the wider use of offset, some competition
got in; and maybe a change in the purchasing depart-
ment policy of some of these companies. By doing this
sort of work by offset it made the prices of Taylor
and Taylor look tremendously high. Jim Elliot told
me that at his age (he was then in his fifties) he
didn't propose to spend maybe up to a quarter of a
million dollars to put the necessary equipment in
to do the kind of offset printing that could be com-
parable to their letterpress printing, so he decided
to sell out., And he sold out at a very good price.*

Teiser: I remember once, during what must have been that
. period of wondering, he told me that he was thinking
about going into long-run book work, not necessarily
fine book work.

Harris: Wwhen I get back on the track of Mackenzie & Harris,
I'll tell you about how, about the same time all this
idea of doing book work in San Francisco was discussed,
we did something about it.

Ed Grabhorn

Harris: Certainly the Grabhorns have been written about and
described.

Teiser: Much has been written, but there's so much about them
that hasn't been said.

Harris: Well, Ed married--he had been married. I never knew
his first wife. They were divorced some time in the
‘twenties, I think Ed was still located up on Powell
Street. From the address on Kearny the next location
he had was in the Ray Coyle Building on the hill on

*
See also the interview with Edward DeWitt Taylor by
Francis P. Farquhar, Regional Oral History Office, 1958.
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Harris: the east side of Powell between Sutter and Bush. Ray
Coyle was an architect and he had the main part of
that building, and Ed had the first floor. He was
located there at that time of his divorce. He was a
bachelor, or a grass widower for oh, I guess seven
or eight years before he married the second time. 1In
fact, he was down on Commercial Street renting the
place there when he married the second time. He
married a daughter of Dr. J. W. Robertson, famous
physician here. Dr. Robertson and Dr. Podesta founded
the big sanitarium for people with mental ills, over
at Livermore. Dr. Robertson, who was a collector of
Poe, had one of the best private collections in
America. He had written a book, I think it was
called A Psychopathic Study of Edgar Allen Poe. They
met when he was ready to have his book on Sir Francis
Drake printed, on whether or not he landed in San
Francisco Bay or at Drake's Bay. I remember Ed telling
me about this man that he didn't know at all came in
one day and said, "Where are your steam presses? I
want a book printed." ([Laughter])

This thing went on for a long, long time, We
set the book and reset it because, after it was in
type, Dr. Robertson decided to rewrite it. I think
he did that a couple of times., So it was very
costly. The book is available. You have, no doubt,
a copy in the Bancroft Library.* We set it in 337
Caslon with Cloister Text. Excerpts from documents
and things to be quoted were in the Cloister Text.
At the time the book was about to be completed Ed
married the daughter, Marjorie Robertson.

This is really a good anecdote. One day Ed
called me--no. I have to go back before this to
tell you the first story because they go together.
The day that EA and his first wife had decided to
get a divorce.

Teiser: What was her first name?

Harris: Florence, I think. Ed spoke of her as “"Flo." He was
out at our house for dinner. And Ed is such a charming
lovable fellow; all his life he's been that way. He
brought some kind of gadget for my wife, a necklace or
something. I don't know. He must've seen it at Gump's.
During dinner he was telling us, he said, "You know,

I had a conference with Flo today and all the arrange-
ments are made about the divorce, et cetera. And I

*
John W. Robertson, Francis Drake and Other Early Explorers
Along the Pacific Coast. San Francisco, 1927.
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Harris: took her out and put her on the cable car. And as she
stepped up, I noticed her legs. I1'd never noticed
'em before and I almost changed my mind." [Laughter)

So! Now, then, I'll tell you. One day I got
a call from him and he said, "I'm going to get married,
this weekend."

I said, "Well, that's good. Who are you going to
marry?"

He said, "I'm going to marry Marjorie Roberéson.”
He said, "I don't know any ministers, and you're a
minister's son. Maybe you know someone.”

"Well,” I said, "I'll tell you. There's a minister
I do happen to know, He's a member of the American Le~
gion, the same post that I belong to. Maybe I can get
him to marry you. Wwhere do you want to be married
and when?"

So he told me. I called this minister and told
him I had a friend that wanted to be married. I could
hear him kind of getting excited because that's the
moonlighting extra income of a minister, a wedding.

I said, "There's just one thing I want to tell you.,
He's been married before. But I can assure you he was
the innocent party in the divorce."

He says, “"Brother Harris, I'll take your word
for it." [Laughter] So they were married. I think
they just went out to the minister's house., I was

not a witness,

About twenty or twenty-five years later (this
was at a wedding anniversary of Ted Lilienthal and
his wife given at the little theater out in the Marina--
the Lilienthals had arranged for a puppet show) I was
talking to Marjorie and I said, "Did you know that I
got the minister for your wedding when you and Ed were

married?”

She said, "You know, I never knew whether that
wedding was legal or not. I want to tell you all these
years we've been so happy that I didn't really care if
it was legal." Now, wasn't that a tribute to him?
Their daughter is the artist, Mary. They had just
one child., Marjorie died of cancer not so many years,
three or four years ago,
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Then he remarried, to his present wife.

The widow of Dr. Somebody*~--Irma. I've only met her
once, I don't know her very well,

The San Francisco Fine Printing Tradition

Now what do you want to start on? I think we've got
enough anecdotes about the three principal printers.
We talked, in my last interview, about what started
fine printing here. I have some very definite ideas
on that. I believe the first one, at least who
publicized fine printing, was John Henry Nash., And
he was certainly the first of the three main ones
that we've talked about-~-the roots of the whole thing
that people began to hear of. I believe Mr, Nash
was born up in Toronto. He came down here I don't
know what year,

Did you call him "Mr. Nash?"

I never called him by his first name, never. The
Taylors I called them by their first names, and the
Grabhorns., But 1 always spoke to him as “"Mr, Nash.”
That doesn't mean anything because it takes me a
long, long time to call anybody by his first name,
That's my eastern background.

I think Nash was first with Paul Elder. He had
some kind of a little shop. Then he went in for him-
self, But there was an environment here for fine
printing, just like San Francisco has had the environ-
ment for fine restaurants-~-probably more good wine per
capita drunk in San Francisco than any other city in
America. And it is a pleasant place to do things,
and printing was either the first or second industry
here for many years. It was a place for fine printers
because there were patrons of fine printing, patrons
of the arts here that made it possible for these
people to do things that were above and beyond the
ordinary, and have somebody buy them., Then, later,

[ 3
Dr. Samuel Engel.
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Harris: the binders, such as Tony Cardoza of Cardoza bindery, *
and other binderies--but that was certainly the best
one there was in this part of the world--could bind
them. And people like ourselves to furnish type and
typesetting. There were one or two very good Linotype
shops and ours for Monotype that could give these
people exactly what they wanted.

Teiser: Wwhat were the good Linotype shops?

Harris: Halle-Cordes would be number one. Next would be
(A. C.] Gollan, And as far as book work, you'd stop
right there, I would think. And ourselves on the
Monotype.

But this bunch of people who were the patrons
of it., The first one I ought to talk about is Albert
Bender., He was born in Dublin, son of a rabbi; came
to this country I guess as a very young man; settled
in San Francisco; was an insurance broker, but he
became interested in art and artists, His hand was
always in his pocket to help keep the thing going.
Others, perhaps later, Herbert Rothschild, Oscar
Sutro, Mrs. Plorence Walter (that's Mrs, John I.
Walter) who collected Grabhorns and has one of the
best collections in existence. She, as you probably
know, at middle age or past. learned to be a book-
binder. Her work is comparable to some of the finest
stuff that's been done in Prance in the last twenty-
five years., Mrs. Ellie Heller--Elinor Heller, whose
husband was E. H., Heller. She has, I guess, a com-
plete collection of all Grabhorns.

Teiser: 1Is that right!

Harris: Yes,

Teiser: Oh, she worked on the Grabhorn bibliography.

Harris: She and David Magee wrote it. That's the first.
The second one I think David and Dorothy Magee did.
There've been two Grabhorn bibliographies.

Teiser: Yes,

Harris: She underwrote and helped to compile the first one.

You have to include some of the book dealers,

the antiquarian book dealers such as John Howell and
his son Warren Howell, David Magee, Newbegin, Paul

* -
The T.J. Cardoza Company; Tony J. Cardoza was president.
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Elder of course. And the people such as Morgan Gunst
who organized the Book Club of California. That, as
an institution, or as a group of people, has done more
to develop fine printing than any other influence.
They made work for some of them, to help them along
and to get them started. Then, in not as great a way,
but to help the volume of work that maybe is not up

to the finest of fine printing, but certainly in the
category would be the California Historical Society,
which had most of their books printed here. Of course,
they did a lot to help Lawton Kennedy. He has done
most of the things that they've done. And a man like
Carl Wheat, very active in these organizations.

Let's mention another one, the Roxburghe Club,
which was organized some time in the 'thirties. Wwheat
was one of the members. The Book Club, the Roxburghe
Club, the Historical Society: the same people--and
if they were men they belonged to E Clampus Vitus.
This thing in San Francisco was the same group of
people always doing something about it. Make notes
and I'1ll tell you later on about the French book show.

Now, naturally, if there are buyers and if there
are fine printers, there are bound to spring up these
service people that would do the things for them that
they want, It wouldn't be necessarily the volume to
keep them going, but it would be the things they'aq
love to do most. I'm sure that all of us have done
work at cost, for less than cost, to help to get the
thing done. 1I've done it many times. I‘'ve done it
for the Grabhorns and for different people. These
people have only got so much money. I'd say, "Well,
name your price. It ought to be done.” I don't
feel that I was giving gifts, We were developing our-
selves. We were helping to sustain an industry and
a reputation which we have here. And I'm sure Tony
Cardoza was the same way. He loved to do a fine
binding. He did lots of binding. And they now, to
get back to these fine printers--the offshoots of
them were smaller beginning one-man shops, such as
Valenti Angelo's. He worked for years with the
Grabhorns. And Arlen Philpott. Bill (Sherwood B.]
Grover was the pressman for Grabhorns. Now he has
a press of his own, the Grace Hoper Press. The
Grovers, Sherwood and his wife, Katharine, are doing
a book right now for Lewis Osborne, all hand set.*

“The Taming of the Shrew. The presswork was done by
Grabhorn-Hoyem, 1t was published in Palo Alto by Lewis
Osborne in 1967. See also Sherwood and Katharine Grover,
The Grabhorn Press and The Grace Hoper Press, an inter-
view in this series completed in 1972,
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And I'm sure that Lewis Allen first was one of
the patrons, then as a hobby started to print. He and
his wife--Lewis and Dorothy Allen--do a lot of things
now. That's their whole occupation, printing.

I am going to interview them.

You should, yes. I think you should interview Warren
Howell and David Magee, too.

I have interviewed Warren.,

Oh, you have. And David Magee, he's back.

I haven't interviewed David Magee yet, but I will.*

Oh! An early influence here, too, was Porter Garnett.
I don't know whether Porter Garnett came from Califor-
nia or not. In the later years of his life he lived
up in Napa County. He used to come out here from the
East every year. For many years, you know, he was
head of the Laboratory Press in Pittsburg, which is
the school of printing at the Carnegie Institute of
Technology. Always you would find him at the Grabhorn
Press or at Taylor and Taylor. This was a little world
of its own in San Francisco: the fine printers, the
people that bought from them, the people that would

go in and pass the time of day.

what was Porter Garnett like?

I never knew him very well., I may have met him three
or four times. He was a slender, rather short person.
Looked like he might be an Eastern, oh, a doctor, or
a professional man of some kind. Quiet.

Now of course, the Colt Press and the Jumbo Press
of Jane Grabhorn were offshoots of the Grabhorn Press,

Wilder Bentley I keep hearing mentioned with great
respect. Did you know him?

Yes, I knew him. He bought a lot of type here. I
don't think we ever set any type for him, but as

*Lewis and Dorothy Allen and David Magee were later
interviewed in this series. warren Howell had been
interviewed the previous year.
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Harris: typefounders we sold him a lot of type, He called that
the Archetype Press, or something.

Teiser: Yes. The Archetype Press.

Harris: It's in that little book I gave you.* He was in
Berkeley.

Teiser: I don't think he's still printing, is he?

Harris: No, I don't believe so. And the same thing with
Brother Antoninus. Of course, he came here after the
war, about the same time that Greenwood Press started
up. Brother Antoninus worked with--who was the first
one he worked with, I don't remember. I think he was
with Wilder Bentley, wasn't he? He was over in Ber-
keley.

Teiser: I've interviewed him., It seems to me he worked very
briefly with Wilder Bentley.

Harris: And his name was Everson then.

Teiser: Yes, William Everson. And he said he worked a little
with James Hart.

Harris: Doctor Hart., Brother Antoninus and Adrian Wilson
worked together, too.**It's regrettable that Adrian
has had these two open-heart surgery operations which
have cut down on his physical ability to do things,
because there's sort of a similarity in the things
he does--not in their personalities at all but in his
type of thing--to the books of Bruce Rogers. I have
worked from his layouts and have seen them and they
are a refined kind of a layout and design. 1It's very
much like Rogers.

—
David Magee, Fine Printing and Bookbinding from San

Francisco and Yts Environs, San Francisco: lGrolier

CIwbY, 1961, p. 7.

**A+ Waldport. See Adrian Wilson, Printing and Book
Design, an interview in this series completed in 1366,
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Contributions to the Tradition

And I would think he might have been influenced by
Rogers.

Of course, that's a subject that I've been
very much interested in all my life in connection with
printing: to trace what started this type designer to
design a certain type. To give you an example, about
the time of the Depression, Lutetia type came in from
the Enschede Foundry in Haarlem, Holland. If you want
to see a good use of it, the Scarlet Letter that the
Grabhorns did is hand set in Lutetla. Shortly after
that became used, there was Deepdene by Goudy. And I
said to him, "Is that your substitute for Lutetia?"
He said, "Ye-e-es."

Now when you look at the two faces, you see that
they're not copies; but from a design standpoint they're
similar. They have the same feeling. Many times when
somebody would say, "I'd like this set in Lutetia,”

I'd say, "But you don't want it hand set?” "No."

And then we would set a sample of Deepdene and the page
effect would be about the same. This is an intereating
thing. It's just like women's styles, you know. Some-
body starts something, and then they come out with
something new but it's still in the mode of the period.

Has any westerner ever d.sigﬁed a type?

The only one I know was a fellow in Los Angeles by the
name of Gillies; his face was called Gillies Gothic.
Have you ever seen this face before?

No.

That was designed for Bauer Typefoundry some time in
the 'twenties by Gillies. I forget his first name.
He was a commercial artist down in Los Angeles. That
was the first type he designed. It was the result

of a letter he had developed over the years, in hand
lettering. It had quite a run for a while and he got
a swell head. He decided to go to New York. Going to
New York I told him I thought he ought to meet Goudy.
I gave him a letter of introduction and he went out
to see Goudy, who lived up on the Hudson. And the
next time I saw Goudy he said, "That fellow's a damn
fool. He came out and tried to tell me how to design
type." [Laughter] And you know, that's the last we
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ever heard of this chap. I suppose he’'s still living
and maybe he's making a living., But that's the only
type that I've ever heard that he designed. That's
the only one I know of that's ever been designed here
on the Coast.

Do you still use it?

No, We have it, but it's out of style now. It was
just a novelty type for advertising.

I keep interrupting you because you suggest things
that I would like to ask you.

I wish you would do that.

I'm very much interested in your interpretation of why
San Francisco became a printing center, and I suppose
you had a good deal to do with it yourself.

Yes., I have a book right here that will show you the
things that nobody else could do. Are you familiar
with this book of Carl Wheat's?

Oh, yes. Mapping the Transmississippi West.

Carl wWheat wrote this book., Five volumes, His hobby,
besides Californiana, rare Americana, fine printing,
was maps. That was his main hobby. He had Grabhorn
design and print volume one. This is volume one.

This was printed at the Grabhorn Press., But a book
of this size--and there were six volumes*--a book of
this size would be beyond the capacity of a press
such as the Grabhorn Press to set, make up, and print
any more than one, because there were a thousand
copies printed. So we made it up into pages.

Ordinarily do you supply type in galleys?

Sometimes. For these fine printers usually we supply
in galleys and they make it up. But this one we made
up into pages, under Grabhorn's instruction. This is
all machine set, this large type. That'’s Van Dijck,
a type which, at the time I bought it, I consulted
not only with the people here, but with Rogers. This
was designed by Jan van Krimpen, the Dutch designer.
That is, he designed the key letters and key shapes,
and supervised the drawings of the others, for the

—
Five, technically, but the last was in two separately
bound sections.
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English Monotype Company. When I was searching for a
new face, a good book face, I talked to people here.
And I also wrote to Rogers, He said at the time,
“That is not only a good face, but I think the finest
book face available on any machine any place in the
world."” So we bought it. This whole book in 16-point
type is all machine set.

Now here's a combination of a lover of printing,
historian, wealthy lawyer, man that's been president
of and he was a fellow of the California Historical
Society, president of the Book Club, Master of the
Press of the Roxburghe Club, and everything. And he
creates this job and has it done here. Grabhorn did
the presswork on the first one.

What was the history of the subsequent volumes of that?

We set and made them all up. The next four were
printed at Taylor and Taylor. The last became two
volumes.

Why did they go from the Grabhorns to Taylor and Taylor?

Because Grabhorn couldn't handle it. He just simply
couldn't handle it, physically. This was upsetting

to handle this much. It was too big a job for them,
Maybe if it had been two hundred copies, but a thousand
copies was too much.

So the next three volumes were done by Taylor
and Taylor. The pages were taken out for the Grab-
horns to look at, and so forth.

The Grabhorns conferred on it?

Well, a little bit. Not too much. That was done by
Elliot, who would talk to them. But the style was
followed the same as the other two.

You made up the pages there too?

We made up the pages, yes. On that whole six volumes,
we did the whole thing here in our shop. When the

fi fth volume came about, Carl was--well, he just
barely made it. He died shortly after that was pub-
lished, a few weeks later. As in each case, he asked
me to engineer the mechanics of getting it out for
him. I was the one that was instrumental in putting
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it in Taylor and Taylor. But we were held responsible
to Carl that there was a continuity. But then, when
the fifth volume--which has two volumes, fifth and
sixth--came along Taylor and Taylor had gone out of
business, Fortunately, the pressman who had worked

at Taylor and Taylor was working for the James Printing
Company here on Third Street, a very small plant. And
they had exactly the same kind of press that had been
used by Taylor and Taylor.

Who was the pressman? Do you remember his name?

Oh, he had a German name and I don't remember. In fact,
I'm not sure I want to remember his name. He was a
very contemptible sort of person, hard to get' along
with, He was always, over there at Taylors' too. He
came over when we were ready to print and started to
tell me how we should wrap up the pages and deliver
them so that the type wouldn't be "off its feet.”

I told him that these were not the first pages of

type we'd ever wrapped up, and if he watched out for
the presswork as carefully as he was trying to watch out
for what we did it would be a good job. [Laughter] So
the last two books in the set, which was the sixth
volume, part one and two, were printed by the James
Printing Company.

Just in passing we've talked about the main fine
printers and about the wonderful offshoots of that.
The complete list of those of importance is in that
book I gave you last week.* But don't forget, too,
that among the big printers here in the old days were
people who did extraordinarily good work as compared
to those in other cities. The standards were higher

for some reason.

Of ordinary commercial printing?

Well, let's take the H. S. Crocker Company. Even now,
if you look at this book, Alamos--have you seen this,
that the Grabhorns printed

I saw it in the De Young Museum, yes. This is the
photograph book, Alamos, by Richard J. Elkus.

Yes. It was hand set in Goudy Modern from our type-

foundry. The illustrations were printed from half-
tone plates by Crocker.

—
David Magee. Fine Printing and Bookbinding, op. cit.
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But I want to show you a plate from this. Come
over here in this light and look at the folds in that
shawl on the old Mexican woman. I doubt if there are
a dozen people in America who could print anything
better, or maybe not as well as that's done. This is
printed by letterpress, and then a varnish over it
gires it that appearance of a fine photographic
print,

This is by H. S. Crocker?

Crocker Union, yes. They did the printing of this,
It's the old H. S. Crocker, Of course, I don't think--
yes! They call it H. S. Crocker. That's the letter-
press department of the Crocker Union Company.

I was about to ask if Walter Mann had done the photo-
engraving, and I see it says "Walter J. Mann Company,."

Yes,
I suppose something should be said about photoengravers.

You're absolutely right. Such concerns as Walter Mann
and the one that used to do all the plates for Taylor
and Taylor, Graphic Arts Engraving Company. That's
what I talked about earlier. These service people,

to meet the standards of these fine printers, developed
techniques and abilities that you don't find ordinarily
in big cities, or any place,.

Do you think this extends even down to that cheap
Chinese photoengraving firm here? Do you think they're
better than cheap photoengraving firms elsewhere?

If you're going to compare mediocrity, why they're
all bad. [Laughter]

And then Sterling Engraving Company was among
those concerns. All these people were tops, abso-
lutely tops, these old-time engravers. The American
Engraving Company was another which also had a fine,
very fine electrotype plant. Hoffschneider Brothers

was another electrotyper. I'm trying to think of
some others. But all of them had good craftsmen

and did fine work because they had to do work that
satisfied these very meticulous fine printers.
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"Carl Irving Wheat As I Knew Him"

Harris: I want to give you a copy of this monograph, which
was my contribution to the remembrances of Carl
Wheat that were done after his death last year.*
I knew him many years, liked him, admired him, knew
what he stood for. An equally good friend of his was
George Harding, the author of this monograph.

At the memorial service various people spoke--
Francis Farquhar, Charlie Camp, Wheat's two sons,
Albert Shumate. And the tone of the whole thing was
"Carl Wheat as I knew him,” or “"as I remember him."
That was the tone of the thing. Harding said that
he was too moved by Wheat's death, that he didn't feel
equal to delivering a eulogy any more than I could've
stood up and made a talk. It was too emotional an
occasion., So right after the funeral I asked George
Harding if he would write what he would have said.
He's retired but he's a busy man., He dropped every-
thing and he spent a month in preparing this. 1It's
a beautifully written thing and it summarizes more
about Carl Wheat than anything I have ever read be-
fore.** So then I asked Mallette Dean to print 350
copies of this, which we've set in Goudy 30. Appro-
priate, isn't it? That's the last type Goudy designed.
He named it "Goudy 30."

We got a list of people from Helen Wheat that she
wanted it sent to., And I sent one to each member of
the Roxburghe Club and to other people who knew Carl.
We made sure not to duplicate because it is a precious
thing. You'll note at the end that it was sponsored
by me. I would not allow anyone else to participate
in the expense or anything.

Teiser: Who designed it?

Harris: Mallette Dean. And I would not let him do it as a
cheap job. He did it as a fine piece of printing.
And I have never been connected with anything like
this that has brought so many letters. Oh, there
must have been a hundred and fifty letters from people

“See also pp. 72-74 for a discussion of Carl Wheat's
book, Mapping the Transmississippi West.

"George L. Harding, Carl Irving Wheat As I Knew Him
(San Francisco: Privately published by Carroll T.
Harris), 1966. See also p. 189.
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Harris: that got them, which we put together in a book and
gave to Helen Wheat along with a bound copy; we had
nine copies bound by Mallette Dean's wife which were
for--I don't remember--the family, myself, and George
Harding, and two of the people in this shop that did
the work.

But look at this, Now here's an artist, Mallette
Dean, who's an outgrowth of the Grabhorn Press. It
exemplifies what I'm talking about. Besides being a
fine artist he is also a fine printer. This is done
just the way Mallette Dean wanted to do it. As you
look at that initial, it's about the view you'd get
if you were at Carl Wheat's living room, up in West-
ridge looking over the hills, Then when you come to
the end, look at this little decoration. This is the
wheat straw, Wheat, you see, But isn't this an
exquisite thing?

Teiser: Beautiful,

Harris: If we hadn't been doing work for people like Carl
Wheat, we couldn't have done all those fine Sierra
Club books. Are you familiar with them?

Teiser: Yes, I am,

Harris: They're all set in this shop--of which I am the prin-
cipal owner.

Teiser: ©Oh, are they! I didn't realize that.
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IV
(Interview 4--May 8, 1967)

The Grabhorn Press and Some Employees

I think I told you I had an anecdote of EA Grabhorn
which sort of illustrates the sort of a person--

When you asked him to put in a cost system?

Yes, After the Depression had started, things were
getting pretty tough, for everybody. I knew that one
of his problems was "making both ends meet." I was

in to see him very often and was so closely associated
with the things he was doing. I knew that he never
kept track of the time on anything, or the cost of

the paper, or anything else. He more or less put a
price on something; he figured that's what it was
worth.

(This hasn't to do with the story, but it shows
the standards he had. I know of one book that he had
completed and was dissatisfied with. I don't remember
the title of it., They had worked on it several months.
He was so dissatisfied with it he put them under the
paper cutter and cut them all in two and threw them
all away and did the thing completely over, Well
that showed the ideals of doing things as well as you
can do them.)

But, anyhow, he kept no track of anything; and
he was doing everything too cheaply, particularly
in comparison to other people like Nash and Taylors,
who were getting a proper price for the work they did.
I went over to see Ed one afternoon. He was then on
Commercial Street. I guess I spent an hour explaining
to him how to put in a cost system, to keep in a
simple way the time that the hand compositors spent
on a job, the pressmen, and cost of the paper, wastage,
and all these things. I told him I would be glad to
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help him to set the thing up; I had some experience
in this matter.

He listened, I noticed, very patiently. And
when I got through, he said, "How old are you now?"

I told him, I think I was somewhere in my late
thirties or forties,

He said, "How many people have you ever known
in your life that starved to death?"

I said, "None."

He said, "Well what the hell are you worried
about me for?" (Laughter)

Before we leave the Grabhorns, I'd like to point
out some of the people that worked there and then
amounted to a great deal afterwards. Helen Gentry
is one. She was a number of years with the Grabhorns
and then set up a little shop of her own and printed
books there. Her brother, Bruce, worked with her,

Her husband, David Greenhood (that was her married
name) wrote that very excellent Chronology of the
History of Printing, a small book. Have you ever seen
1t?

No.

It's the handiest thing. I have mine at home. You
can go down the dates, and all of the things of im-
portance that happened since Gutenberg are listed
there.

After they left here they went to New York,
and she became associated with the Wolff Company.
And Bruce and she both made a good name for them-
selves--she in doing child's books, the thing she
did here, miniature books. She designed many of them
for publishers back East. But you've got to attri-
bute to these people their interest--or at least
their finish--to having been with the Grabhorns.

Another one would be Gregg Anderson, who was
at the Grabhorn Press for two or three years and then
went down and joined up with Ward Ritchie, the Ander-
son-Ritchie Press.* He, as you probably know, was

'Anderson, Ritchie & Simon.
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killed. He was a lieutenant in the Army and was killed
the first day of the landing on Normandy Beach.

Samuel Farquhar and the University of California Press

Before we get back onto the track and talk about our
own little company here, I have mentioned Sam Farquhar
who was in the group of people that belonged to the
Roxburghe Club, the Book Club, the Historical Society,
and I guess E Clampus Vitus, But there were that
group of people that saw a great deal of each other
and were interested in fine printing. He was made
director of the University of California Press., I
don't recall what year this was, but it would be

some time in the 'twenties. And I never saw such a
transformation take place in an institution as was
effected under his being director. Preceding him

was a Mr, [Joseph W.] Flinn. Mr. Flinn was an old-
time printer whose idea of a title page was such as
you see in a law book. And all of the printing that
was done at the University at that time was in that
category.

Sam worked at first without Tommasini, and
later he brought Amadeo Tommasini into the picture
as the plant superintendent. The two of them got
the University of California Press, in the selection
of the things they did and in the work they did at
the press, comparable to some of the great presses
in other parts of the United States. After Farquhar's
death, the functions of publishing and production,
which had both been under Farquhar, were separated,
August Frugé, who was Farquhar's assistant, handling
the publishing business, took over the publishing
function. And a business manager was put over the
business end of the press and Tommasini remained the
superintendent and general manager of production and
designing. Certainly the kind of books they did
under Farquhar and Tommasini were different from any-
thing else, and were comparable to the fine printing
that was being done in the Bay Area. Take for in-
stance the Larkin papers.* We set the first five or
six volumes. They were designed for Centaur. Then

—

The ten volumes, The Larkin Papers, edited by George
P. Hammond, were published at intervals beginning in
1951 and ending in 1964,
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Harris: they ran out of money so they had to use a substitute
face and do the rest of them at the press. But these
are beautifully designed. And you take a collection
of letters and try to make a beautiful page out of
them! You probably are familiar with these books,
aren't you?

Teiser: Yes, I am., They're--

Harris: Bxguisitel

Teiser: Yes,

Harris: Beautifully done! Beautifully done. There were ten
altogether, I have them all here. We set them until
they didn't have the funds to go outside for the
composition.

Development of Mackenzie & Harris

Harris: Now, if I may, I'd like to return to about 1924, when

I came to Mackenzie & Harris, It was then the Monotype
Composition Company. We started to do the things that
Mr. Mackenzie and I had talked about in our correspon-
dence, through the mails, and after I got here--to
change a typesetting plant that merely did the drud-
gery of machine typesetting for printers to something
which, in its own name, would create a reputation. I
think I told you about our engaging in advertising.
We went along well with that., Then the first thing
that happened, that gave us a good business lesson,
was that we bought a small plant in Oakland in 1925,
and operated in that shop.

Teiser: Who had owned it before?

Harris: It was a captive plant of an advertising agency,
Houlihan's agency, I believe it was. It had been
formerly run by Ben Kennedy, as the manager. We
operated this plant for three years, and we lost
money every month but one, although we had more work
than we could do. So we learned to our satisfaction
that we couldn't have a branch plant with the kind
of service that we were offering to the public.
Because everything that the big plant in San Francisco
had was expected in the small plant in Oakland. So
that meant that we were bringing it across the bay
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and doing it over here and at great expense running
this plant. 1In fact we did the Shopping News, the
Oakland Shopping News, for the three years we had this
plant., How we ever did it in that little plant I
don't know, but we got it out. So we closed it up

and sold it to Mr, K. L, Hamman., He was an adver-
tising man who had a branch in Oakland and a branch
over here. This experience taught us a lesson: to
concentrate on our main shop and things that we knew
how to do, and try to do them better.

Then about 1926 I read an article in the American
Printer that a new concern' had been formed to import
type from Europe. The principals were Mr, Melbert
B, Cary, Junior, as president; Frederic Goudy as vice-
president; and Douglas McMurtrie, I believe, was
treasurer--or also a vice-president., Previous to that,
a little bit of European type had been sold to a few
plants, The Grabhorn Press had a couple of faces,

Nash had ornaments, at least, he bought in Europe.
There had been a German who would go up and down the
Coast about twice a year with some specimen books

and would sell some type., But he didn't have any in
stock, or had never built up a real business; and
besides, all this type was cast on the Didot point
system, which made it difficult for people to use.

The Didot point system is based on the metric system
and is used in Western Europe. All the type in Germany
and France and the Netherlands was cast on the Didot
point system, For instance, a 10-point Didot is about
10 1/4 points American; you couldn't use it. You can't
mix such type in the same line with type cast on the
American point system.

This announcement said that these people were
going to import European types cast on the American
point system. There had been a tremendous revival in
the type foundries in Europe after the end of World
War I and they were looking for new markets. They
had some very, very outstanding type designers.

I wrote to Mr. Cary, or to this new company,
for a specimen book. The specimen book came; it
wasn't very much more than a pamphlet. I have a copy
here some place. They had a face they called Narcis-
sus, which was an in-line type not unlike Caslon
in-line, but the heavy stroke was a little heavier.
This came from the Klingspor type foundry in Offenbach
am Maine. They showed two or three faces from a

*
Continental Type Founders
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foundry in Madrid, Richard Gans and Son. That was the
important type foundry in Spain. And a face called
Astree from Deberny et Peignot of Paris, the one and
only foundry of any consequence in France at the time.

So then I wrote Mr, Cary and proposed to him that
we be their agents for the eleven western states, ex-
clusive agents, and referred to Mr. Goudy and Mr.
McMurtrie, both of whom I knew very well. Almost by
return mail I got an answer: they were willing to make
us agents, and would we carry stocks, et cetera? By
correspondence, in a matter of a few weeks, we had
signed them up, on an odd sort of a contract. It took
a year for anybody to cancel it on either side, That
was one of my ideas; and I've used it since, because
you can't have a satisfactory agency unless you're both
happy. And anything that comes up that can't be settled
in a year, you better separate anyhow.

So we started to sell this imported type. After
things began to get going and we got stocks, then we
imported some very popular and important type faces--
for instance, the one called Eve, Eve Italic. This
type was designed by Rudolph Koch. Mr, Cary, the head
of this company, was a wealthy man, a dilettante in
fine printing, and he was married to the daughter of
H. M., Flagler--he married Mary Flagler. Flagler was
the man who built the Florida East Coast Railway, so
that sort of puts him. Melbert Cary's father was a
New York attorney. Mr. Cary was active in the Grolier
Club and interested in fine printing., Cary had a
private press known as "The Press of the Wooly Whale."

As an illustration of how clever Cary was (because
he renamed these types to fit the American market) the
German name for Eve was Koch Antiqua. The italic would
be Koch Antiqua Kursiv, The Eve bold would be Grosse
Koch Antiqua, and so forth. Very hard for a salesman.

We brought these various types here and put in
a big stock. And there was no trouble to sell them.
Absolutely, it was fantastic. I made a trip to Los
Angeles--by that time I'd started to make a trip about
every three months to Los Angeles to sell the type we
made, such as it was, in those days--but when I made
my first trip with a set of specimens of this imported
type I just couldn't believe my ears. I walked in to
see some of those typographers down there, and they
would say, "what have you got?" The first trip I made
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with the new, imported types, in a matter of three days
I had sold about five thousand dollars worth., That was
as much type as Mackenzie & Harris would sell in six
months of their own manufacture. I almost am ashamed
to tell it: I jumped in the car and drove back, I was
afraid somebody would cancel the orders. I just
couldn't believe it,

Advertising people and printers all over the Coast
were interested in these new types because American type
had been in the doldrums, hadn't brought out anything
new for a long time and everybody wanted something new,

Then the face that really startled us was Kabel.
We got some advance showings o¥ this type in light and
bold. I went up to the advertising manager of the

San Francisco Emporium and I said, "You've been talking
about an exclusive type. Here's one that's almost ex-
clusive; it's brand new." And they bought three
thousand dollars worth of Kabel Bold and put it in

each of the five newspapers in San Francisco, for them
to set their ads, from 14 point to 84 point; it gave
them a working amount of type.

This type became popular instantly, so that we
had a waiting list., As we got a shipment from New York,
our standing orders at the Continental Type Founders
(that was the name of the importers): any Kabel that
came in, send us all they could spare of any sizes they
had. And we had a waiting list., Of course it would
ruin any salesman if this went on too long because he
would get soft.

We would call up different people: "We just got
in some Kabel."*

"Well, what can you spare?” And we'd tell them,
*All right, send it over."

This went on and on and on, so that we built up
quite substantial sales of the various types. As I
say, these were all on the American point system and
were excellent in quality.

About the same time that Continental Type Founders
was formed, Bauer Type Foundry, which was one of the
largest type foundries in Germany at that time, and
still, had picked as an agent out here the Norman F.
Hall Company, printing machinery dealers. They're no
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longer in existence. You can't sell type unless you
have a feeling for it and there wasn't anybody in the
Norman Hall Company, although it was a fine outfit,
that had the slightest idea about type. Types were
all alike to them; they were black or they were light
face; that's about all the difference they knew.

That went on for a couple of years. One day a
young German came in the office, introduced himself.
His name was Wolfgang Schoenborn. He told me that he
had been making a survey up and down the Coast as to
why the Bauer people were not selling any type while
Continental Type Founders were, and he thought he
would like to interview me.

I said, "well, it's quite obvious that you aren't
and won't sell any type out here, to speak of."

He said, "why?"
I said, "Because you don't have the right agent."
"Well," he said, "what can we do about that?"

I said, "Let us take on your line." Then the
conversation was: they're competing. 1 said, "No,
they are different designs, they are not competing.
Just show them to people, and they'll pick the types
on their merits.™ And I was able to convince Mr, Cary
that it wouldn't interfere with our contract with them
if we took on the Bauer Type Foundry line, which we
did. And we did even better with that than we aid
with Continental.

This all went on until World War II started.
Then the Bauer company folded up, or folded up tem-
porarily. They had no stock. So we let our stock run
out then and gave up the agency. Continental Type
Founders stopped business about, oh, 1935 or 1935,
after they had been in about ten years. Mr. Cary
died suddenly and that broke the whole thing up.

But in the meantime the Monotype people had be-
come busy. They had copied the Kabel type exactly,
which they called Sans Serif. And we bought the
matrices for that and started to make it in our foundry.
Later they came out with a face which they called
Twentieth Century, which was an exact copy of Futura,
the best seller of the Bauer Type Foundry.
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Harris: We had established ourselves in the eleven western
states as standing for something different, so that it

was an important thing in our business and in our repu-
tation,

Teiser: The printing industry as a whole had profited by it,
had it not?

Harris: They had profited and we had profited, and it had
helped us gain an influence in this area. For instance,
I remember that we got out about three copies of a
little publication which we called Western Typography,
which was just a house organ. One of these went to
the Recorder Printing and Publishing Company. They
sent for me, and they put in a thousand or fifteen
hundred dollars worth, to start, of imported types.
The buying public was demanding some faces that were
different. So we were helping the local printer and
also establishing ourselves as standing for something
a little bit more than just typesetting on the galley
in Cheltenham or something like that.

We weathered the Depression. I don't know how
we did, except that when we made a few dollars both
Mr. Mckenzie and I were the type of people that didn't
declare it in dividends or raise our salaries; we kept
pumping it back into the business. We had one thing
that could have wrecked us except that we had estab-
lished a line of credit at the bank, something that I
don't think any typesetter up to that time had. But
early in my career with this company--I had some
training in how to handle finances through my various
experiences with the Monotype Company--so I knew the
people at the Wells Fargo Bank and established a line
of credit. 1In other words, we could borrow on unse-
cured notes up to a certain amount, to buy equipment
or to help us over tough spots. I think when we
established it the line of credit was $20,000. They
told us we were entitled to more, but that was about
all we needed. The only thing they had, Mr. Mackenzie
and I had signed a continuing guarantee. That line of
credit at the bank, at the present time, is many times
that, but we don't use it any more. [Laughter] So it
goes.,
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Harris:
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Business Problems and World war II

What was this blow?

This blow was a sad one. It had to do with railroad
tariff. We did railroad tariff for the Progress
Printing Corporation. We had five thousand or more
pages standing. Our contract with them was that we
would do, within the necessary time, any new or re-
vised tariff pages, deliver them to them ready to
print, and then have the pages returned to us. This some-
times ran into big business. We had one period when
there were a great deal of new issues of tariff,
where we built up, over a period of about a week,
until we were getting out from eighty to a hundred
pages per day from mat manuscript to completed pages,
and that's a lot of work.

The only trouble with this business was--if it
had been continuous we could have profited by it.
But when the tariff came in we'd go down to the
union halls and hire twenty or thirty men and have
them come in., We paid no attention to our other
customers and we lost a lot of customers. If we had
a tariff rush for four to six weeks, then after it
was all over we'd have to go back and make peace
with some of our other, small customers--explain why
we didn't do their work on time, or why we couldn't
do it at the time we had this tariff in. The man who
was the head of the Progress Printing Corporation
ran his business on a different way. If he had a
big profit for a couple of months, then he and his
associate, who had a little interest in the company,
would spend it. It was going to be Christmas every
day of the year. We financed this for him by ac-
cepting monthly notes on which he paid the interest.
We discounted them at the bank because we weren't
big enough to finance to any extent, except with
our bank credit.

One day we were called to a meeting by the
attorney for the Zellerbach Paper Company. When we
got there we learned that the Progress Printing
Corporation was all out of money and we had the
distinction of being designated as chairmen of the
creditors' committee. That meant that our account
was the largest. They owed us $35,000. They owed
Zellerbach Paper Company thirty; and they owed the
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landlord, Mr. John Cahill, who owned the building at
Sansome and Clay, $16,000 for back rent, The rest of
their debts didn't amount to more than about $5,000,

Well, I'1l1l tell you what saved us. We were not
in a position to lose $35,000 or any part of it, be-
cause it was during the Depression. This was about,
oh, the middle ‘thirties.

Mr. Mackenzie and I worked very well as a team,
I would look at him and he would look at me, and some-
thing would transpire: "Let's get out of here and talk
it over."”

This meeting was held in the morning. Of course,
the other two major creditors had lots of money, but
we didn't. They thought the thing to do was to de-
clare a moratorium and see if this man could get out
of the hole he was in,

So we told them we'd like to think it over until
after lunch, and made an appointment to see them at
1:30, resume the meeting. We walked up from the Mills
Building, where this meeting was held, to the Wells
FParqgo Bank and went in to see vice-president Oliver
Carlson and told him what had happened. He looked
across the desk and smiled and he said, "Gentlemen,
you've been doing business at this bank for a good
many years and you never really needed a bank, but
you need one today and you've got one. You go back
to the meeting this afternoon; you can talk as big
as the Zellerbach Paper Company because now it's the
Wells Fargo Bank and you together., We will take your
note for this whole amount and make these funds
available; or the notes that come due, we'll cover
them. And one day you will be able to pay this back.
But in the meantime your credit will not be affected

here.”

That saved us. We took a net loss over a period
of three or four years before we creditors finally
sold that busineas to Sunset Press., But we took a
net loss of $25,000. I'm going to tell you how I
got it back, later.

During the war years this business--

Oh, I'd better say this., I was ordered to active
duty in the Army in July of 1941, before Pearl Harbor.
I was in the reserve, had a rank as a major. Business
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still hadn't resumed any healthy aspect. We were
getting by, and that's about all. The law at the time
was that they could order a reserve officer to active
duty for a year. Then after I was in, that law was
rescinded and I was in the Army during the Second World
Wartﬁntil August of 1946. That's five years and a
month,

Mr. Mackenzie ran the business, although his
health was failing at the time I was ordered into the
Army. I had an agreement from him--I was stationed a
good deal of the time in the vicinity of the Bay Area--
and I had an agreement with him that the company would
not do any government business, any Army or Navy busi-
ness, because I wanted to be, like Caesar'’'s wife,
above suspicion., Yes . . . we did two jobs toward the
end of the war for a local installation that needed
something, and there was no bill rendered for that.
That was after Mr. Mackenzie's death.

Mr. Mackenzie died suddenly in July of 1944,
This was the second shock I'd had because 1I'd lost my
son the year before. He was killed in France, pilot
on a plane. I didn't know exactly what to do., But I
got a call from the Wells Fargo Bank to come down and
see them., So I got off a few hours. I was stationed
at that time on the general staff at the San Francisco
Port of Embarkation. And they at the bank asked me
what I was going to do with the business. They had
been designated as trustees and executors of Mr.
Mackenzie's estate,.

I told them I wasn't going to do anything with
it because it was moatly Mr. Mackenzie's business
from the standpoint of stock ownership and I was in
the Army and very busy.

They said, "Let's read the will." They read
the will and Mr. Mackenzie had draped this business
around my neck; nobody could buy stock unless I had
the refusal of it at the same price offered, and
nobody could buy stock unless I would approve of them.
And as long as I lived and had an interest in the
company I was 